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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai
(Chairman and Managing Director)

Anthony LAM Sai Ho (Vice Chairman)

Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo

Laurent LAM Kwing Chee

TSANG Siu Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Leo CHAN Fai Yue

John WONG Yik Chung

Richard LAU Siu Sun

QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT
TSANG Siu Hung

COMPANY SECRETARY
LEUNG Chi Keung

AUDITORS
HLM & Co.
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKER
The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRARS AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN BERMUDA

Appleby Management (Bermuda) Lid.

Argyle House, 41A Cedar Avenue,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRARS AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Standard Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Golden Resources Centre

2-12 Cheung Tat Road

Tsing Yi Island, New Territories

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE
http://www.grdil.com

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 677
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | have pleasure in
presenting the audited consolidated results of Golden
Resources Development International Limited (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year
ended 31st March, 2009.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

For the year under review, the performance of Hong
Kong rice business was satisfactory. However, the
market competition, especially among the major
supermarket chains, remained severe and the business
operating environment was challenging. To weather
this business environment, we continued fo leverage our
strong brands to maintain our market position through
aggressive marketing initiatives. We remained committed
to conftrolling our operating cost fo enhance cost
efficiency and maintain profitability.

The business environment in the fiscal year 2008/2009
was extraordinary and difficult for global economy.
The unprecedented global financial crisis has seriously
weakened the financial markets with grave repercussions
for the global economy. The performance of our
investment portfolio was significantly affected. The
Group suffered loss of HK$61,480,000 derived from the
unrealised mark-to-market loss on the financial assefts.
With regards to the share of the results of associate,
the Group's share of loss to the extent of HK$67,566,000
was due to investment in GR Vietnam Holdings Limited
("GR Vietnam”). The loss of GR Vietnam was also mainly
attributable to the unrealised mark-to-market loss on
the financial assets. In addition, the Group's associate
in Thailond had suffered in the unusual turmoil in the
commodity market in 2008. To contain the damages
and sfreamline the rice operation for cost efficiency,
our Group’'s associate in Thailand had decided fo
restructure its current operation and management. As a
result of this, we consider that the recoverable amount
of this investment is uncertain fo determine. As such, an
impairment loss was recognized on the investment in this
associate.
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Our investment projects in Vietnam have been
progressing as anticipated. Our Group's associate,
GR Vietnam, commenced the operation of the
convenience store project (Circle K) exclusively in
Vietnam in December 2008. In addition, in June 2009,
Golden Resources signed an agreement with Vietnam
government to build and transfer a water distribution
network in Tien Giang province, Vietnam. We believe
that this investment will give satisfactory refurns to the
Group. As a developing counftry, Vietnam will need a
lof of infrastructure improvements in the coming years
that this provides investment opportunities for the Group
to explore the business there. The Group is confident of
the long term prospects of the business development in
Vietnam that the Vietnam market will bring in new
income streams to the Group.

At the Group treasury level, in March 2009, the Company
issued HK$72.8 million convertible notes with 5 year
term at 2% coupon rate with conversion price of HK$0.26
per share as a replacement for those issued in 2007 at
4% coupon rate with conversion price of HK$0.90 per
share. We confinue to monitor our treasury operations to
optimize our balance sheet and market positions. With
the net cash position of HK$229 million and a strong
balance sheet, the Group is in a very strong position to
ride out this difficult global crisis and take advantage of
any acquisition opportunities of exceptional value.

Overall, we anticipate serious challenges ahead as the
markets and confidence levels slowly recover. We expect
to maintain a steady course as we focus on our core
businesses, our new businesses and investments, as we
seek exceptional values, here and abroad, especially in
China, Malaysia and Vietnam.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend payment
of a final dividend of 1 cent per share (2008: 1.5
cents per share) for the year ended 31st March, 2009
to shareholders on the Register of Members of the
Company on Thursday, 27th August, 2009. Together
with the interim dividend of 1 cent per share paid on
Thursday, 15th January, 2009, the total dividends for
the year will be 2 cents per share (2008: 2.75 cents per
share).
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Subject to the approval of shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the dividend
warrants will be dispatched to shareholders on or about
Thursday, 3rd September, 2009.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 21st August, 2009 to Thursday, 27th August,
2009, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected.

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and
be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrars in Hong
Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 20th August, 2009.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of ifs subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's

listed shares during the year.

On behalf of the Board

Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 15th July, 2009
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Established in 1946, the Golden Resources Group was
proud to achieve listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited in 1991. As an innovative pioneer in the
local rice industry, the Group can assert itself as the sole
entity to have established a complete rice-processing
plant in Hong Kong, one of the most sophisticated and
advanced rice production facilities available. With over
decades of development, the Group has claimed a
preeminent position, the envy of all in its field. The Group
has made its way to the forefront of this industry with
a vast spectrum of highly reputable brands including
Golden Elephant, Kangaroo and Cherry Blossom, fo
name but a few. At the inception of this new century, the
Group will continue to capitalize on its highly regarded
logistics system and distribution network, and endeavor
to set the pace in the retail and institutional markets, in
offering products and services of uncompromising and
unparalleled excellence to diverse markets across the
globe.

Visit www.rice.com.hk to share the proud heritage of
Golden Resources Group.
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The Company is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance standard and procedures
to safeguard the interests of all shareholders and to
enhance accountability and transparency.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company adopted all the code provisions in the
Code of Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the ‘“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
as its own code on corporate governance practices.
The Company has complied with the Code throughout
the financial year ended 31st March, 2009 except the
following deviations:

Code provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the
roles of a Chairman and a Managing Director should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year, Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing
Wai is the Chairman of the Board and the Managing
Director of the Company. Given Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM
Kwing Wai has had extensive experience in the business
of the Group, particularly in soliciting for possible new
business opportunifies and deducing the overall strategic
plan for the future development of the Company, the
directors consider that it would benefit the Company
if Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai is also in charge of
overseeing the Company's operations as its Chairman.
The Board considers that this structure will not impair the
balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Group. The Board will regularly
review the effectiveness of this arrangement.

RARBAEFRFEEEREA R
B NEEZEZBERRNGE R H
BEMNBRE -

+\

TEEERER

RRAREERMBEMARIABRA
B[R Fr )&% Em AR AT £ R
A DM+ ImEc ERERERT
AI(T=F AN D) R Z P A T AR R R E
K2 ERERERTH - ARFAR
BE_ZZNF=A=1+—HIEWHK
FEABETTA - BT RS :

RIBTRIEA21G TREEFAL
BRETNAES  TEER—-AET-
FA MAREESREIEREFE
R ERMMELERAREER
BRELELR BRRESLARAA
BRERSKEBEFNEE LT EER
RARE T E EFRA/MNRBRTLRE
EARAEEABEEEARALER
SERRBXB -EZERR - %AEB
TERFEFeEASEEEE 2%
AEYE EFS8TE M LIALTH
Pl



Code provision A.4.1 of the Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. All of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company were not appointed
for a specific term unftil 31st July, 2008. Since 1st August,
2008, all of the independent non-executive directors
have been appointed for a specific term and are subject
to retirement by rotation once every three years and are
subject to re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors. All directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
fully complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the financial year ended
31st March, 2009.

THE BOARD

Composition

The Board currently comprises eight Directors including
five executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors. The independent non-executive
directors possess appropriate academic and professional
qualifications or related financial management expertise
and have brought a wide range of business and financial
experience and independent judgement to the Board.
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Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai, executive director and
Managing Director of the Company, has been elected
as the Chairman of the Board since 24th June, 2008 fo
replace the late Mr. David LAM Kwing Chan.

Mr. Anthony LAM Sai Ho, has been appointed as
executive director of the Company since 3rd December,
2008 and has been elected as the Vice Chairman of the
Company since 25th February, 2009.

The composition of the Board of the Company for the
year ended 31st March, 2009 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. David LAM Kwing Chan (former Chairman)
(passed away on 12th June, 2008)

Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai
(Chairman and Managing Director)

Mr. Anthony LAM Sai Ho (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 3rd December, 2008)

Madam Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo

Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee

Mr. TSANG Siu Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue

Mr. John WONG Yik Chung

Mr. Richard LAU Siu Sun

Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai, Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company, is the brother of Madam
Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo and Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing
Chee, executive directors of the Company, uncle of Mr.
Anthony LAM Sai Ho, Vice Chairman of the Company.
The biographical detfails and relationships among
members of the Board are set out on pages 23 to 26
of this annual report. Save as disclosed above and
in the "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management Staff” section of this Annual Report, none
of the Directors of the Company has any financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with one another.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2009, the Board at all
fimes met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-
executive director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from all its independent non-executive directors of their
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.

FUNCTION

The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives and
strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and
financial performance and reviews the corporate
governance standard of the Company. It also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, major
fransactions, director appointments or re-appointments,
and dividend and accounting policies. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing its business strategies and managing
the daily operations of the Group’s businesses to the
Managing Director and the senior management.

The Board held four regular Board meetings at
approximately quarterly interval during the year
ended 31st March, 2009. Additional board meetings
were held when necessary. Notices of at least 14 days
accompanying with agenda for regular board meetings
were given to all of the directors. The directors have
been provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in order to enable them to discharge their
duties and responsibilities. The regular board meetings
have been participated by the directors either in person
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or by way of telephone conference from time to time
when necessary. Minutes of full board meetings and
meetings of board committee are properly kept and all
directors have access to board papers and the related
materials.

Details of individual attendance of directors are set out
in the table below:
Name of Director Number of Attendance

Executive Directors:

Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai 4/4
(Chairman and Managing Director)

Mr. Anthony LAM Sai Ho (Vice Chairman) 3/4

Madam Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo 4/4

Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee 4/4

Mr. TSANG Siu Hung 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue 4/4
Mr. John WONG Yik Chung 4/4
Mr. Richard LAU Siu Sun 4/4

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year, the Chairman and the Managing
Director of the Company is Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing
Wai who has been elected as the Chairman of the Board
since 24th June, 2008 to replace the late Mr. David LAM
Kwing Chan.

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the
roles of a Chairman and a Managing Director should
be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Given Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai
has had extensive experience in the business of the
Group, particularly in soliciting for possible new business
opportunities and deducing the overall strategic plan for
the future development of the Company, the directors
consider that it would benefit the Company if Mr. Alvin
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Leslie LAM Kwing Wai is also in charge of overseeing
the Company's operations as its Chairman. The Board
considers that this structure will not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and fthe
management of the Group. The Board will regularly
review the effectiveness of this arrangement.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. All of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company were not appointed
for a specific ferm unfil 31st July, 2008. Since 1st August,
2008, the term of appointment of all of the independent
non-executive directors will be automatically renewable
for each year commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the current term of appointment to the
next Annual General Meeting subsequently held,
unless terminated by not less than one month's notice
in writing served by either party or the other. All of the
independent non-executive directors are subject fo
retirement by rotation once every three years and are
subject to re-election.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
on 12th April, 2005 with specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirement of the
Stock Exchange which deal clearly with its authority and
duties.

The members of the remuneration committee for the
year ended 31st March, 2009 comprise four members, of
which three are independent non-executive directors,
Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue (chairman of remuneration
committee), Mr. John WONG Yik Chung, Mr. Richard LAU
Siu Sun and one is executive director, Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM
Kwing Wai.
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The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee
include:

J fo make recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for all remuneration
of directors and senior management of the Group;

o fo review and approve performance-based
remuneration;

o to determine the specific remuneration packages
of all executive directors and senior management
and to make recommendation to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive directors;

o fo review and approve the compensation payable
tfo executive directors and senior management
and the compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct; and

o to ensure that no director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during
the year ended 31st March, 2009 to discuss remuneration
related matters. The individual attendance of each
member was as follows:

Number of

Name of Director Attendance

Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue 1/1
(Chairman of the remuneration committee)

Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai 1/1

Mr. John WONG Yik Chung 1/1

Mr. Richard LAU Siu Sun 1/1

s BMARFARAEEEZLRERE
BABNZEFMBR LRS-
MEESRLEZR -

B RBHRRIEL

- BERBITEELRSAEEE
MEABMESAS - IRIERTE
ENMEREESRHES -

c BIARBRENTHTESZES
MEBRABNFHH  AREFH
1T /378 T AR e S BB B B
Bz &

c BERTAEFHEEMBEAL
TRETERIFM

FHEEEREE_ZZTAF=A
=St BLEFEREBRT-REE
N mBRFTHNER - SKEMNE
Bl EINT -

EEEW IR B

BRIEE £ 1/1
(BWZR &3 /%)

MIEE 5T 1/1

=RERE 1/1

FkEre L 1/1



During the year ended 31st March, 2009, the summary of
work performed by the Remuneraftion Committee was as

follows:

J reviewed the remuneration policy for 2008/2009;

J reviewed and updated the existing Director’s fee;
and

. reviewed the remuneration of executive directors
and the independent non-executive directors.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not established a nomination
committee. The Board is empowered under the
Company's Bye-Laws to appoint any person as a director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition fo the
Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to the
Board for consideration and the selection criteria are
mainly based on the assessment of their professional
qualifications and experience. The Board selects and
recommends candidates for directorship having regard
to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to
the Group’s business.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31st March, 2009, the total
audit fee of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$424,000. Non-audit service fee for the year amounted
to approximately HK$22,000.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 10th
August, 1999 with specific written tferms of reference in
accordance with the requirement of the Stock Exchange
which deal clearly with its authority and duties.
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During the year, the Audit Committee’s terms of
reference have been revised to take into account the
Board's responsibility for reviewing the adequacy of
staffing of the financial reporfing funcfions in order to
comply with the newly amended Code.

The members of the Audit Committee for the year
ended 31st March, 2009 comprise three independent
non-executive directors, Mr. John WONG Yik Chung
(chairman of audit committee), Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue,
and Mr. Richard LAU Siu Sun.

The Audit Committee’s primary functions include:

J to recommend to the Board on the appointment,
terms of engagement of the external auditors;

U fo review and monifor the appropriateness of
accounting policy, accounting practices, financial
reporfing and disclosure and the application of
judgement and estimates related thereto;

o to review the Company’s annual and interim reports
and any opinion expressed by the external auditors;

o tfo review any related party fransactions and
connected party transactions for compliance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
reasonableness and fairness to the Company and
its shareholders;

J fo review with the external auditors issues raised in
the external auditors’ management letter, queries
or similar communications;

o fo monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards;
and
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J to review the Group’s financial conftrols, internal
control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the
year ended 31st March, 2009. The attendance of each
member is set out as follows:

Number of

Name of Director Attendance

Mr. John WONG Yik Chung 2/2
(Chairman of the audit committee)

Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue 2/2

Mr. Richard LAU Siu Sun 2/2

During the year ended 31st March, 2009, the summary of
work performed by the Audit Committee was as follows:

J review of the financial statement for the year ended
31st March, 2008 and for the six months ended 30th
September, 2008;

. review and discussion of the audit findings with
the auditors and review of the annual result
announcement;

. review and consideration of various accounting
issues and new standards and their financial impact;
and

J consideration of the audit fee and audit work for
the year.

s EHAKEZMBER AR
7R R B IR AR o

EEEB R E
/p\?ﬁﬂz 2/2
(%&%E?Iﬁ)

BRIZE I A4 2/2

ZIJRFR A4 2/2

HE_ZTTZNF=HA=1T—HIEEE

N BEREEED TR TEREN

T

EMBE-TT/\F=A=1—
ALFERBE-TT\FAA
=+BLEAEAZBBERE

o  HEZBEMAREHNIwREZS
REERFEFRELM

s BMFEMEZEREZEREGHEHR FE
AIRETBREE &

- EERAEEZREERREET
o

IfF 355 o 0% 4 &

Corporate Governance Report

017



Corporate Governance Report

018

OfF 35 OX TR 6 >

Annual Report

2009

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARING THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of accounts for each financial period with
a view to ensuring such accounts give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
results and cash flow for that period. The Company’s
accounts are prepared in accordance with all relevant
statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently; and that judgement and estimates
made are prudent and reasonable.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability fo continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report
on pages 39 to 41 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining
a sound and effective internal control system of the
Group. The Group's internal control system includes
a well defined management structure with limits of
authority which is designed for the achievement of
business objectives, so as to safeguard assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, to ensure proper
maintenance of books and records for the provision
of reliable financial information for intfernal use or
publicaftion, and fo ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company uses a range of communication tools to
ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key
business imperatives. These include annual general
meeting, annual report, interim report, various nofices,
announcements and circulars.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
on each substanfial separate issue, including the
election of individual directors.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides
a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with
the Board. The Directors, chairman of the audit and
remuneration committees and external auditors are also
available at the annual general meeting to address
shareholders’ queries.

To promote effective communication, the Company
also maintains a website at www.grdil.com, where
information and updates on the Company’'s business
developments and operations, financial information and
other information are posted.

Details of the poll vofing procedures are included
in the Company's circulars convening a general
meeting. Where necessary, the detfailed procedures for
conducting a poll will be explained at the meeting. The
results on any voting conducted by poll will be published
on the business day following the shareholders’ meeting
and posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are engaged in the business of
sourcing, importing, wholesaling, processing, packaging,
marketing and distribution of rice, securities investment,
property investment and investment holding.

Analyses of the Group’s turnover and segment results by
business segment and geographical segment are set out
in note 6 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and of
the Group's principal associates at 31st March, 2009 are
seft out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March,
2009 and the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group at that date are set out in the financial statements
on pages 42 to 122.

An infterim dividend of 1 cent per share amounting
to approximately HK$14,069,000 was paid to the
shareholders during the year. The Directors now
recommend the payment of a final dividend of 1
cent per share to the shareholders on the Register of
Members on Thursday, 27th August, 2009 amounting to
approximately HK$14,069,000.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 27 to
the financial statements and the consolidated statement
of changes in equity respectively.
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GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assefs and liabilities
of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on
page 124 of the annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at 31st
March, 2009. The revaluation deficit of HK$1,060,000 has
been debited to the consolidated income statement.

Details of movements during the year in the investment
properties of the Group are set outf in note 13 to the
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in nofe 12
to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of movements during the year in the convertible
notes of the Company are set out in note 24 to the
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company's Bye-Laws or the law of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up fo
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. David LAM Kwing Chan (former Chairman)
(passed away on 12th June, 2008)

Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai
(Chairman and Managing Director)

Mr. Anthony LAM Sai Ho (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 3rd December, 2008)

Madam Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo

Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee

Mr. TSANG Siu Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue

Mr. John WONG Yik Chung

Mr. Richard LAU Siu Sun

In accordance with the Company's Bye-Laws, Mr.
Anthony LAM Sai Ho, Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee, Mr.
Leo CHAN Fai Yue and Mr. Richard LAU Siu Sun shall
retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive directors
confirmed his independence with the Company
pursuant fo Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considered all the independent non-executive directors
are independent.

The term of office of each executive director is the
period up to his refirement by rotation in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-Laws.

Since 1st August, 2008, the term of appointment of the
independent non-executive directors, Mr. Leo CHAN Fai
Yue, Mr. John WONG Yik Chung and Mr. Richard LAU
Siu Sun, will be renewable automatically for each year
commencing from the next day after the expiry of the
current term of appointment to the next Annual General
Meeting subsequently held, unless terminated by not
less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party or the ofther. All of the independent non-executive
directors are subject to refirement by rotation once every
three years and are subject fo re-election.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai, the Chairman and
Managing Director, had enfered into service confract
with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing on Ist January, 1991. The service contract
remains effective after the expiry date unless terminated
by either party with six months' notice in writing. As at
31st March, 2009, the service contract had not been
terminated by either party.

Save as disclosed above, no Director being proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than stafutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT STAFF

1. Directors

The biographical details of the Directors of the
Company are as follows:

Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai (formerly known as
Alvin LAM Kwing Wai), aged 64, Chairman and
Managing Director of the Company. Mr. Lam
joined the Group in 1970 after he obfained his
Master of Business Administration degree from
the University of California, Berkerly, U.S.A. He has
extensive experience in financial management
and investment planning. Mr. Lam is currently an
executive director and Chairman of Prosperity
Investment Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam is also an independent
non-executive director of Regal Portfolio
Management Limited whom is the manager of
Regal Real Estate Investment Trust, a Hong Kong
collective investment scheme authorized under
section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the
units of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam is the brother of Madam
Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo and Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing
Chee, and the uncle of Mr. Anthony LAM Sai Ho.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT STAFF (Continued)

1.

Directors (Continued)

Anthony LAM Sai Ho, aged 42, Vice Chairman of
the Company. He graduated from the University
of Sydney in Australia, majoring in Economics and
Psychology. After graduation, Mr. Lam joined the
Merchant Banking Division of the State Bank of New
South Wales, and had been extensively involved in
the corporate financing and the securitization of
assets and mortgages. Mr. Lam returned to Hong
Kong and joined the Group in 1991 and has been
appointed in several key senior management
positions in Hong Kong and otfther Asian countries
including Vietnam and Thailand. Mr. LAM is an
executive director of GR Vietnam Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
139). Mr. Lam is an Executive Committee Member
of the Customer Liagison Group for Rice under the
Trade and Industry Department in Hong Kong, and
the Executive Committee Member of the Federation
of Hong Kong Industries. He had been awarded the
Ap Bac Medal from the Vietnam Government in
recognition of his confribution to the rice industry
in Vietnam. Apart from being active members
in different business chambers and associations
around the world, Mr. Lam is also a regular speaker
in major international conferences. Mr. Lam is the
nephew of Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai, Madam
Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo and Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing
Chee.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT STAFF (Continued)

1.

Directors (Continued)

Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo, aged 63, Executive
Director and Treasurer of the Company. She
graduated from the University of California, Los
Angeles, U.S.A. with a B.A. in Economics and joined
the Group in 1991. Madam Yuen has extensive
experience in banking and trading. Madam Yuen
is the sister of Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai and
Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee, and the aunt of Mr.
Anthony LAM Sai Ho.

Laurent LAM Kwing Chee, aged 62, Executive
Director of the Company. He graduated from the
Eastern lllinois University, U.S.A. with a bachelor
degree in Economics and joined the Group in
1991. Mr. Lam has extensive experience in property
development and investment. Mr. Lam is the brother
of Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai and Madam Rosita
YUEN LAM Kit Woo, and the uncle of Mr. Anthony
LAM Sai Ho.

TSANG Siu Hung, aged 54, Executive Director
and Financial Controller of the Company. He
holds a bachelor degree in Accountancy and is
a fellow member of the Association of Charfered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He joined fhe
Group in 1985. Mr. Tsang has extensive professional
experience in finance, accounting and auditing
fields.

Leo CHAN Fai Yue, aged 68, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of fthe
Company in 1999. Mr. Chan has over 20 years of
invaluable experience in Hong Kong stock market
and manufacturing industry. During his early years in
Japan, he was exposed to the trading and finance
field. He is an independent non-executive director
of Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited and
Datronix Holdings Limited, both of which are listed
companies in Hong Kong, and a direcfor of a paint
manufacturing company in Bangkok. Mr. Chan is @
member of The Hong Kong Institution of Directors.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT STAFF (Continued)

1.

Directors (Continued)

John WONG Yik Chung, aged 42, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in 2004. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Ecogreen Fine Chemicals
Group Limited, CDW Holdings Limited and General
Steel Holdings Inc, companies listed in Hong Kong,
Singapore and The United States of America
respectively. He is a professional accountant by
tfraining with more than 18 years of experience in
auditing and corporate finance work, with extensive
exposure to the business enterprise in the People’s
Republic of the China (“PRC"). Mr. Wong is currently
the Director of Vantage Consulting Group, a firm
providing a variety of professional outsourcing
solutions to an international client base investing
in PRC. Mr. Wong graduated from the University of
Melbourne. He is a fellow member of the Australian
Society of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He also obtained a PRC Certificate of Independent
Directorship in 2002.

Richard LAU Siu Sun, aged 62, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in 2006. Mr. Lau has over 35 years of
commercial banking experience. Mr. Lau previously
held a managerial position in a local reputable
bank and has retired from the bank since early
August 2006. Mr. Lau has extensive experience in
banking and finance field.

Senior Management

The five Directors of the Company holding executive
offices above are directly responsible for the various
businesses of the Group. They are regarded as the
members of the senior management of the Group.

ESKEEERABZEAERF
B (#&)

BEE(#E)

BHEE 2K R_TTEWF
BEERARAB ZBIIEMITE
Fo BFARFRAPRBELELIE
£ R 2 A CDW Holdings
Limited M@ A il Z IR AR A
AIEDRIRES « I RER
FHRARIZBYIEHITES - &
EEREERGETRD - HHEE18
FETREERMELR  HHE
ARAEMB([HE])EFELER
BERKS - 1RE /B Vantage
Consulting Group Z &%= * %
A A A% E R A BN LA B BR & =
REZABIRBEFEZEINRAT
REMNETMAE REBGTA
NEEREGER - RN _ZFZTZ

FRETEBYEREE -

BIkH 62 R-_FTRF
BERERARRAZBIULIFNITE
B RABBBISFHRRITIR
e Bt AERERSN —HESR
ZRITREEERUYER-F
TRFNANEIK - BIEEER
TR EHEREZER -

FRRABARRRZHTEZRA
SREBAEBERRER - A
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31st March, 2009, the interests and short positions
of the direcfors and their associates in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

Long positions

(a) Ordinary shares of the Company

EERRORERROEE 2 #ES
5899}

R-ZZEZhF=A=+t—H BE=F
NAR % 7 B8 A TR R A E E A
HEORE (E& R ES R BEE([E
FEEE GO ) EXVED) 2R K
HERD PG ARARER S LY
EIROIFEIS2EMFEZELHA
SHARE LR R 2R ESTRIZARN
SARARBRZT EEKRE W
-

"R

(a) FRAZEER

Number of ordinary shares beneficially
held in the Company

ERBEAARERRERY
Approximate
percentage
of the issued
share capital
Personal Family Corporate Total of the
Name of director interests interests interests interests Company
AAR 2B H#
TRAZ
EEEH 8 ARE = XEER DRI EEAE HEDH
Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM 17,500,000 6,000,000 68,957,000 92,457,000 6.57%
Kwing Wai (Note)
MARE & (H1zt)
Note: Bt -

These 92,457,000 shares are held by Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM
Kwing Wai, a director of the Company, as beneficial
owner in respect of 17,500,000 shares, as family interests in
respect of 6,000,000 shares and as interests in controlled
corporation in respect of 68,957,000 shares.

It 592,457,000/l H BB AR Al E =
MEELEERE BUESHEBARZE
17,500,000 9 WX KEHEZHFH
6,000,000 & % 19 B A Z IR A B E R A
68,957,000 J& RS °
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2
O
-+
o+
2 @' DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE EENROREERGEE £
[ $ﬁ SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued) BRAE(E)
Q4
ere . =4
e Long positions (Continued) HE(E)
y— B
_|C_) (b) Non-voting deferred shares of wholly-owned (b) FRAZ2EH B A ZERE
6 subsidiaries of the Company REEZR
Q
qu Number of non-voting
deferred shares
Name of director Name of subsidiary Capacity beneficially held
BERBAERERER
E=EH MEAR R =27, g (!
Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai  Golden Resources Beneficial owner 260,000
WRELE Development Limited EB#ZHHEAA
TRAEARAR]
Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai  Yuen Loong & Company Beneficial owner 13,000
WRERSE Limited ERBEAA
RETERAR
(c) Ordinary shares of associate of the Company (c) FRAZHEELATZEZAERKG
Number of ordinary
shares held through
Name of director Name of associate Capacity corporation
BEBATBEZEER
E=EH BENRER E27) Rip &8
Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee Wellight Interest in 300
MARRL S & Development Limited controlled (Note)
corporation (i)
P g VNI £
Note: et -
These shares are held by L.K.C. Company Limited, a HERDBENAREEEEREZA
company wholly-owned by Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee. AL.K.C. Company Limited £ A °
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions (Contfinued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2009, none of
the directors nor their associates of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interest or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as recorded in the register that
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as ofherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
contained in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

The Company has adopted an employee share option
scheme on 26th August, 2008 under which the Board may
grant to the Company's directors (including independent
non-executive directors), employees of the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries, and other persons who,
in the sole discretion of the board of directors of the
Company, have contributed to the Group, options to
subscribe for shares of the Company. No option was
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the
year or remained outstanding as at 31st March, 2009.
Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are
set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party fo any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate and neither the directors nor the chief
executive, nor any of their spouses or children under the
age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of
the Company.

EERRORERROEE 2 #ES
KRR (E)

HR(E)

BREXHBEEN R-ZEThE=
A=1+—8  ARaRBEEFRPE
{5 5] 55 352 16k T &R 32 2 & e ffft T AC 8%
IR R B M B P AR £ R AP
HoBEETRENE  ARABEFEX
WMEZHMBEAIHMEREGIBE SN
AR B AL (T ] AR B O B 2 B4 34
B PR RS SAR -

EERERSD 2ER

RZZZNFNATRE » ARFR
M—IREBBBERS - BY EF
SR RAAAREE(BEBIIFNTE
£) ARAREEEAMBLRZ
BEERARBESTEE2ERTEHAN
SEEMERCEMALTRHEARE
ARBBD 2 BRE - RAFEAL
EEABRERN - 176 - KRR
W OMBE—_FTEAF=A=1+—H
IETRERITR 2 BRE - ARR 2B
BB AR 8 2 715 51 0 B 75 #R R Y
L 26 e

PR EXFREEIN  NRAHEAEM
P 8 % A 1A 4 P AL o] ey ] 32 48 BT 374
MZH  EARRNEFAEBEALRD
GELSCES YN Pl e
EmMER MIEF - THRAEH - F
AREZBEBH+A\RATFLRTE
BEAARBARRB S EAEF -
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MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
Acquisition of property

On 20th August, 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a provisional agreement with
an independent third party to acquire a commercial
property situated in Hong Kong. Cash consideration of
HK$27,880,000 was funded by internal resources of the
Group. The acquisition was completed in October, 2008
and the property is held by the Group for internal use.

Convertible Notes

Subsequent to the issuance of convertible notes
amounted to HK$85,500,000 (“the Notes”) on
30th October, 2007, the Company entered into a
Supplemental Deed with the holders of the Notes on
12th September, 2008 to vary and amend certain terms
and conditions of the Notes, principally to allow for early
redemption at the option of the Company at 100% of
the face value together with all interest accrued on
the principal amount of the Notes thereby redeemed
but unpaid. In December, 2008, the Company early
redeemed part of the Notes with a principal amount of
HK$13,000,000 together with accrued interests.

On 17th February, 2009, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with an independent third party
for the placing of new convertible notes in cash with a
principal amount of HK$72,800,000 (“the New Notes").
Pursuant to the placing agreement, the New Notes were
placed to independent third parties in early March
2009. The New Notes bear interest at 2% per annum
payable semi-annually with maturity on 4th March, 2014
(“Maturity Date”). The initial conversion price is HK$0.26
per share, subject to adjustments and provided that the
conversion price shall not be less than the par value of
the Company’s share. The New Notes may, at any time
between the date of issue thereof and the date which
is fourteen (14) days before (but excluding) the Maturity
Date, be redeemed by the Company at 100% of the face
value. The holders of the New Notes (“the New Notes
Holders”) are not entitled fo vote at any meetings of the
Company. The exercise of the conversion rights by the
New Notes Holders shall be subject to the consent of the
Company.

The net proceeds from the placing of the New Notes
were used for early redemption of the outfstanding
principal amount of the Notes of HK$72,500,000 in full in

March 2009 together with accrued interests.

ERXS
g 2/ES

R-ZBZENENAZTHE  AREZ
2EMBAREBIE=RKE
—HUREBEABZBEYEMR] LR
B i o A B A HE REE RS
27,880,000 8 T2 R & R(E - ZWF
ZEEEF_?7J\¢+H7:5Z iz
HAKEREIERNBRE

RREE

i ?t¢+ﬂ_+5§*

fJ)Zf& ZAN/N ,\mﬁ%%ﬁ/\ﬁé\:
gf—;/\iﬂﬂJr_EuT_Lﬁ?ﬁ”f'
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[ {B 2 100% 3& [F] 4% it M f& [ 18 K X
NeREBRSEMBA 22N EE
BRF - ARBER_ZEZENF+Z
ARFBONNEE BETER
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

Construction project in Vietnam

On 21st June, 2009, Great Lead International Limited
(“Great Lead”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a construction agreement
with the People’'s Committee of Tien Giang Province,
the municipal government of Vietnam in the Tien
Giang Province and an independent third party to the
Company, and intended to construct and fransfer a
water distribution network in the east area of Tien Giang
Province, Vietnam to the People’'s Committee of Tien
Giang Province by way of Build-Transfer Model (“the
Construction Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Construction Agreement, the Project
will be carried out in two phases with phase 1 to be
completed by the end of September 2010 and phase 2
to be completed by the end of December 2012. Total
confract sum of the Project comprises (i) construction
costs of approximately VND328 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$142.86 million) which will be initially
borne by Great Lead and repaid to Great Lead by 10
semi-annual instalments in March and September each
year after the handover of the Project in phases, with
any increase in the volume of the works to be performed
by Great Lead under the terms of the Construction
Agreement of less than 5% to be borne by Great Lead
and (ii) cost of capital of the Project equivalent fo
10% per year of the consfruction costs of the Project
incurred by Great Lead, which has not been paid by the
preceding instalments, will be paid to Great Lead by 10
semi-annual instalments in March and September each
year after the handover of the Project in phases.

The estimated construction costs of the Project will be
approximately 40% financed by the Group's internal
resources and approximately 60% financed by bank
borrowings. To ensure the due performance of the
Construction Agreement by Great Lead, Great Lead
will provide to the People’ Committee of Tien Giang
Province a certificate of bank guarantee issued by a
bank operated in Vietnam with a carrying amount of 2%
of the construction costs of phase 1 of the Project, and
this bank guarantee will be released upon the handover
of phase 1 of the Project.

FHEARZER
MRERIEE

RZEBEEZAESNA=-+—A8"
Great Lead International Limited
([Great Lead ) (ARQRIZHEEE2E
Bt B8 2 A1) B2 E AT & T U AT
EARZEC(BIRARRICE=
F)RIM 2R Wk - &R B E AT
ARBAEE  BEEXARRLBE
ek TRIIE ARZE ([
E:B%,J) °

BEEXHZE 2GR BEXBHEE
T2 B Ko M A # T M*H;E]H%
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MR =T —=—F+= ﬁ%ﬁ:ﬁkf’
BRAZEHNEBRE()BHRKALY
/£ 328,000,000,000 # /g & (18 & »
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BEEXRDHEEGreat Lead#ET2 T
2 IR 5% i H Great Lead #
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ST o
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party tfransactions entered intfo by
the Group during the year are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group rented a property owned
by a landlord in which the Director of the Company, Mr.
Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai, had a beneficial interest.
Total rental expenses incurred for the year amounted to
HK$960,000.

Save as disclosed above, in the opinion of the Directors,
there were no other transactions which need to be
disclosed as connected fransactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No conftracts of significance to which the Company or
any of ifs subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
fime during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st March, 2009, the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO showed that, the Company had
been notified of the following substantial shareholders’

interest, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued share
capital:

Name of shareholder
IRIRE B
Yuen Loong International Limited (“Yuen Loong”)

Chelsey Developments Ltd. (“Chelsey”)

BEALRS

REBEBEALRNEAEERNETR
S B - IIRPBHRKRMES -

BEXS

RAFEER AEERARBESHH
BREER - BEGRERREZY
¥ AFEREZHEEXHEFER 960,000
BT ©

BEXHBEEN  EERA - HE
H it 5B R F AR A B
%5 -

ESRERGN LS

AR A E AR E AR ERT LR
R 2 R AR DA RS AF E E AR B
REERMARREEHE (TRER
HAER)EARGE AL -

FERR

RZZBETZNF=ZA=1+—8 ' xQ7F
RIEESFMABKRMFIBHEFEZ
TERREMLEME - TIE2MR
HMEARAEERSBHIIALARREZ
BTN

Approximate

Number of percentage of the
shares held issued share capital
(Note 1) of the Company
BERGHE RARZEBRITRAZ
(Btat1) BABEDL
485,052,026 34.48% (Note 2)
(Htzt2)

236,940,000 16.84% (Note 2)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Noftes:
1. These shares represent long position.

2. Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai, a director of the Company,
is a beneficiary of a discretionary frust which is interested
in approximately 24% of the issued share capital of each
of Yuen Loong and Chelsey. Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee,
a director of the Company, is intferested in approximately
15% of the issued share capital of each of Yuen Loong and
Chelsey. Madam Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo, a director of
the Company, is interested in approximately 10% of the
issued share capital of each of Yuen Loong and Chelsey.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been
notified by any other person who had an interest in 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as af
31st March, 2009.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately HK$74,000.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had cash balance of HK$229 million and no
outstanding bank loans except for convertible notes
amounted to HK$70 million as at 31st March, 2009.

With cash and other current assets of HK$515 million as at
31st March, 2009 as well as available banking facilifies,
the Group has sufficient financial resources to satisfy its
commitments and working capital requirements.
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NET ASSET VALUE

The net asset value of the Group as at 31st March, 2009
was HK$0.56 per share based on 1,406,906,460 shares in
issue as af that date.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The total number of employees for the Group is about
359.

Remuneration packages are reviewed by the Group from
fime fo time. In addition to salary payments, other fringe
benefits for the staff include refirement benefits schemes
and medical insurance scheme, as well as quarters and
housing allowances for certain staff. The Group has taken
out personal accident insurance for senior staff and the
staff who frequently travel overseas on business trips.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the financial year ended 31st March, 2009, the
five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 52% by value of the Group’s turnover and
the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
84% by value of the Group's total purchases.
Approximately 22% of the Group’s furnover and
approximately 65% of the Group's total purchases were
attributable to the Group's largest customer and supplier
respectively.

Cousins of the Company's Directors (Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM
Kwing Wai, Madam Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo and Mr.
Laurent LAM Kwing Chee) and uncles of the Company'’s
Director (Mr. Anthony LAM Sai Ho) had beneficial
interests in the Group’s largest supplier. The Group held
40% beneficial interest in this largest supplier.

Save as disclosed above and as far as the Company’s
Directors are aware, none of the Directors of the
Company or any of their other associates, or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued
share capital) had a beneficial inferest in the Group’s
five largest customers and five largest suppliers.

EEFE

BE_ZZNF=R=+—HE%ET
IR 2 B B BB 1,406,906,460 % 5t
B AEERZAZEEFERER
0.56 7T °
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PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information
publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company, over 25% of
the issued share capital of the Company was held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.13 AND 13.16 OF THE
LISTING RULES

Advances to entities under Rule 13.13 and financial
assistance to and guarantees given for facilities granted
to the Company'’s affiliated companies under Rule 13.16

The following table summarises the loans and guarantees
granted by the Group to (i) entities which individually
exceeded 8% of the relevant percentage rafios under
Rule 13.13 of the Listing Rules as at 31st March, 2009
and (ii) the Company's affiliated companies which in
aggregate exceeded 8% of the relevant percenfage
ratios under Rule 13.16 of the Listing Rules as at 31st
March, 2009:

REFR

>
fein

RAHERZERE - BREBEAQRES
MARERERBERARAESANE A
REEERANRARERSE - BITD
R EMRABE TARQ RS BEITRMD
#)25% °

BELHHRAE13.13K%13.16 %
EHZIHE

REF1BISHFAEBRREZERRR
BE1316FAF AT ZHEARREMR
ZMBEPRRADAZHELAE
BRERREZER

AEER-_ZEZAF=ZA=1+—HI))
MERREHZERLAEERAEHR
ZHER - EERNEHEBELTRANE
1313 GREZBERA DL 8% ZE K
RYER + R (i) AARNR R 2 BB AR A
RUZERERBBE AR ARG 2E
R HAFHEEBB LEMARRNFE13.16
(RREZBREB DL 8% 2 ik MIER
LN

Aggregate
Extent of  of advances
Attributable  Non-interest guaranteed and
interest held by bearing  Guarantees facilities ~ guarantees
Affiliated companies the Group advances (A) given (B) utilised  given (A + B)
BRI
rEEERZ %E Rtz EBfAZ ERER
BEAR 3 ER(A) ER(EB) ERRES (A+B)
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  Notes
ARt FET FET FET FET  MiH
(i)  Dragon Fortune Lid. and
its subsidiaries
Dragon Fortune Lid.
EEKMELT
Dragon Fortune Ltd. 28.00 72,106 — — 72,106 a
Fortune Leader Investment
Limited
BEREBRAR 28.00 — 2,520 2,520 2,520 b
Fortune Leader Overseas
Chinese (Daiyawan)
Investment Company
Limited
ERES (KEE) REBBAR 22.40 — 33,254 15,357 33,254 c
Aggregate of Dragon Fortune
Ltd. and its subsidiaries
Dragon Fortune Ltd.
EAMB ARG 72,106 35,774 17,877 107880 d
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.13 AND 13.16 OF THE
LISTING RULES (Continued)

Advances to entities under Rule 13.13 and financial
assistance to and guarantees given for facilities granted
to the Company'’s affiliated companies under Rule 13.14

BELEHRAUFE13.13 &13.16 &
e 2 X (&)

REF1BIBHRAEBRAZERRR
BEI1316REAEX QT 2HEARRMK
ZMBEPRURADF ZHE QAR

(Continued) BREMRTEER(E)
Aggregate
Extent of  of advances
Attributable  Non-interest guaranteed and
interest held by bearing  Guarantees facilities ~ guarantees
Affiliated companies the Group advances (A) given (B) utilised  given (A + B)
ERREMZ
AREREZ %5 Rt EBAZ ERAE
HELF gL EF(A) #1R(B) RARMESE (A+B)
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  Nofes
A7t FET TET &L TET it
(i)  Sirinumma Company Limited
and its subsidiaries
Sirinumma Company Limited
EHNEAR
Siinumma Company Limited 40.00 12,156 13,751 — 25907 e g
Siripattana Rice Company
Limited 69.40 38,679 — — 38,679 f
Aggregate of Sirinumma
Company Limited and its
subsidiaries
Siinumma Company Limited
HEMBARAG 50,835 13,751 — 64,586 d
(iii) Golden World Enterprises
(Wuhan) Limited
SRERE¥E (BE) BRAT 25.50 2,229 — — 2,229 a
(iv)  Supreme Development
Company Limited
BAREBERAR 41.16 3,055 — — 3,055 a
(v)  Wellight Development Limited 37.50 6,515 — — 6,515 a
Total
a5t 134,740 49,525 17,877 184,265 h
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.13 AND 13.16 OF THE
LISTING RULES (Continued)

The proforma combined balance sheet of the above
affiliated companies, as attributable to the Group, as at
31st March, 2009 is as follows:

BEETHRAE13.13 £ 13.16 %
fEH 2 BT (&)

AEEMAELABBRARR _FFAN
FZA=+t—HZBEAHEEAR
JAN

HK$'000

FET

Non-current assets FEMENEE 173,025
Current assets MENVE B 124,349
Current liabilities mENAE (91,633)
Net current assets mENE EFRE 32,716
Non-current liabilities EREBAE (132,53¢)
Minority interests DERR R (20,741)
Shareholders’ equity f% R 52,464

Details of the above affiliated companies are set out in

note 15 to the financial statements.

Noftes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The advances were made as shareholder’'s loans fo
finance the investments or working capital of respective
entity or affiliated company. The balances were interest-
free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

The guarantee was given for loan facilities granted to
Fortune Leader Investment Limited (“FL Investment”). FL
Investment is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Dragon
Fortune Ltd.

The guaranftee was given for loan facilities granted to
Fortune Leader Overseas Chinese (Daiyawan) Investment
Company Limited (“FL Overseas”). FL Overseas is owned as
to 80% by FL Investment and as to 20% by an Independent
Third Party.

BB N R 2 R R R B RS R R
FIzE15 ©

(a) ZEFEERTVABRREFE AR ERNE
BIEBARREABNESFSEAZ
RAXECEETHTE - XFERRR
B EERRARBAER -

(b) ZERTIEREEBRAR([ERE
"EEEZEEmMRSE - EREE
J5Dragon Fortune Ltd. 2 E#&2
BB AR o

(c) BREFRLIMEREB(REZEZ)RESR
RAR([EERE ) EX 2 EEME
o BERERERRERE80%
SHBIYE=EH20% °

Tk THF 55 I 4
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.13 AND 13.16 OF THE
LISTING RULES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Aggregated pursuant to Rule 13.11(2)(c) of the Listing
Rules.

The advances included a loan to Sirinumma Company
Limited (“Sirinumma”) of HK$7,069,000, which was interest-
free and secured by the shares in Siripattana Rice
Company Limited (“Siripattana”) that would be allotted
and issued fo Sirinumma as a result of Sirinumma’s
additional capital contribution to Siripattana. This loan
balance was fully impaired during the year. The remaining
balances of the advances represented current account
balances for expenses paid on behalf of Sirinumma and
were interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

The advances represented shareholder’s loans to finance
the working capital of Siripatfana. The advances were
interest-free, unsecured and fully impaired during fthe
year.

The guarantee was given for banking facilities granted to
respective entity or affiliated company.

Aggregated pursuant to Rule 13.16 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting to re-appoint HLM & Co. as auditors of
the Company.

On behalf of the board

Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15th July, 2009

BELEHRAUFE13.13 &13.16 &
e 2 KR (&)

Hiat : (&

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(&

B EWRAEIZI(2(c)IEE
&t o

ZEERBIE—EE FSirinumma
Company Limited ([Sirinumma )
£7,069,0008 7T < B K 7% H
BERX A% E &I ERSrinumma
Al Siripattana Rice Company
Limited ([ Siripattanal) &8 4 &
i 4% & B & & % 17 T Sirinumma
2 Siripattana f% 7 fE & # - Z 18
BRZEHRERANEE 2 8RR
BEEE - MZEERNBEIR
Siinumma X B X HH 2 & RER 4
&% HEHARE - B KEREMN
B -

ZE B A Siripattana iz & i#
B 2RAENR - ZEERABRE -
EIA R ENAEE 2 SRR ES

18 o

ZHER T B R B8 i B A R
ZIRITRE MR o

RIFEETHRANFE13.16 &R ©

3

ARABREERRBFARRESZ —

R

-
EES

CBREREHMITAEA

AAZERED

RREES

1

A
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 ZEEAFLATER
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HLM & Co.
Certified Public Accountants

TO THE MEMBERS OF
GOLDEN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT INTERNATIONAL
LIMITED

TRAREREGR AR

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Golden Resources Development International Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to
122, which comprise the consolidated and Company
balance sheets as at 31st March, 2009, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the frue and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Room 305, Arion Commercial Centre

2-12 Queen’s Road West, Hong Kong.

s 2 f R PE 2- 12 5 e 2 0305 %
Tel &7 (852) 3103 6980

Faxf# 5 (852) 3104 0170

E-mail & #S: hlm @hlm.com.hk

HERKREEBFERLTAZBRR

(REFZEZMA L HERAA])

AZEMTEERNENF2EE
FI2EERTRAEBERERAA
TEREDREMBRR(RERIE
SEDONGAMBRER - WEEMK
BREER-_FTTNF=A=1+—H
MEAaRARIEERBERMNBEEZA
LFENGARSEER HAaEaE
REEEBEERER  UREEES
BRIRE R H M AR R -

ESHGRSUMBBRRARENEE

REAEFERERBEBEGMA

B EEHBERELENRFER
ARPINBEERERRALEEM AL
WER EREAMBRER - EEEE
B OREF BERAGEERRYEE
NI 2 WA G M5 HRER BRI R ER
B UEEREMBEBRRTIFEHAR
WEF iR AR M B B A B K S8 SRR AL
BEVRERMAEENSER AR
BEREL GBS -

%

Zl
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Independent Auditors’ Report

039



I TfF 555 2 3 ¥ <) B

Independent Auditors’ Report

040

Annual Report

2009

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is fo express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any ofher
person for the contentfs of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit fo obtain reasonable assurance as to whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation and true and fair presentation
of the consolidated financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the enfity’s
infernal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audif opinion.

BB ELE

ATHEERRERMNEREZE
RAEMBHRREEER  RANRSE
EABRR(ER—EEE) MRS X
NREAMIME A - RIT T8 AR
TNARHEMEMATAFZERER
EEEE - ATEREEZESTAIQ
RGBS ERLEAETER - &
FRABREMBTEERE LR
A MHMTER  UEEBEESA MK
BRESNFAEAERBRRAL -

BRZSRATRFAEREMGE M
BREMBCBELBEEERNBRE
& o FTIEE B2 Fr BUR IR 2 BAM &Y 21
B BREFH B REFEERME
REMBHRRFEERNERRAHR
@ o HEAHEZERRE  ZBAEE
BEARRREYEEM AL 2 R
BB mMERAAAOAIMEE - AR
BENEZERF  BXFEZH RN
NEEIEMMBERRER - BXNE
RHEEEMERANETERRNGE
HERFEM S EFNEELE Uik
AHERAM B RRNEB2H AN -

ATHEE - BRAMESHEZERER
ARMEEHRSRTHEZE RIRH
EA o



OPINION 2R

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements RNTRE BEGZESVEHRREERE
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the BB IR E R E B A EH R R
Company and of the Group as at 31st March, 2009 EEER_ZETENEFE=A=1T—HH
and of the Group's results and cash flows for the year BBRRE SEEHZZHBHIEFEE
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial MEEMRESLRE  WEEBEFEEL
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared MRz BB E L BRE -

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLM & Co. RS sHER{T
Certified Public Accountants HEDFEN
Hong Kong, 15th July, 2009 BE  ZETNFELHATHA
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2009 2008
Notes HKS’000 HK$'000
Wizt FET FET
As restated
&E5
TURNOVER EER 5 757,717 556,864
Cost of sales SHE A (567,711) (405,730)
GROSS PROFIT EF 190,006 151,134
Net unrealized loss on financial REBHERRATEREZ
assets at fair value through profit CREEZAZRER
or loss FEE (61,480) (28,660)
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation of — BfLREWME 2 (B4t),/
investment properties A (1,060) 4,410
Net other (loss)/income HiFE(E1E),/ A 7 (6,565) 106,038
Selling and distribution costs SHE R AN (35,956) (26,592)
Administrative expenses EEEH (104,472) (111,449)
Impairment loss on loan ERZRME
receivables E51e (14,676) (29,455)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS  4&%& (f5i8) /% (34,203) 65,426
Finance costs BTG R AN (3,029) (2,049)
Share of results of associates B E NRIER (92,400) (39.607)
Impairment loss on interests in NI e
associate FEEE (31.831) —
Gain on disposal of an associate 6 R LA /NC] ol € — 653
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION BRELAT(B5B) T 8 (161,463) 24,423
Taxation PIE 9 (7.500) (15,520)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR XEE(FE)wH (168,963) 8,903
Attributable to: RIEREE(BR), w57 :
Shareholders of the Company RARIRE (167,632) 8,722
Minority interests LY RER (1,331) 181
(168,963) 8,903
DIVIDENDS KE 10 28,138 38,690
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE SR(ER),/BA I
— Basic — &R HK(11.9) centsi#&l HK0.6 cents &l

— Diluted

N/ATEH

N/A i@




2009 2008
Notes HKS’000 HK$'000
Kz FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - [E#KE MR E 12 94,249 75,414
Investment properties HE Y 13 23,550 27,890
Interests in associates RN = 15 226,427 340,493
Available-for-sale investments A HEKE 16 41,339 88,674
Prepaid lease payments TS HERIE 17 19,534 19,958
405,099 552,429
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 18 84,062 102,597
Trade debtors JEUNE 5 BRT1E 19 69,025 56,826
Other debtors, deposits and HaEWRTE « He R
prepayments B FIE 41,821 69,271
Financial assets at fair value REZERE AT ERE
through profit or loss JEREE 20 90,706 155,913
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReFH 229,413 221,819
515,027 606,426
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Trade creditors e E SRR 21 2,270 6,875
Other creditors and accruals Hab e iRE N E R ER 16,904 19,491
Derivative financial instruments {74 €m T A 22 —_ 3,017
Tax liabilities HIEAE 30,817 29,879
49,991 59,262
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZE 465,036 547,164
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERME
LIABILITIES =L 870,135 1,099,593
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FIER B EE 23 2,422 2,671
Convertible notes AR E iR 24 70,787 86,210
73,209 88,881
796,926 1,010,712

+—H
‘H>

N =
Consolidated Balance Sheet

=H

s

At 31st March, 2009
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2009 2008
Notes HKS’000 HK$'000
Biat FET FET

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital f& s 25 140,691 140,691
Reserves i 27 643,921 856,964
Shareholders’ equity &% R = 784,612 997,655
Minority interests DGR 28 12,314 13,057
796,926 1,010,712

The financial statements on pages 42 to 122 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 15th July, 2009 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai
PRI 2
Chairman
FrE

TIREL2EEFI12B 2 BRI N
—EEhE+ AT RHBEESESHE

NIRRT R BHARRRE

TSANG Siu Hung
Ik
Executive Director

HITEE



2009 2008
Notes HKS’000 HK$'000
Kz FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries B BB B hE = 14 850,447 943,380
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other debtors, deposits and HipprUkBR1E « e &
prepayments TEfT IR 149 149
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEFHE 7 2
154 151
CURRENT LIABILITY REEE
Other creditors and accruals Hith fEATBRTE K B R 23 82
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 133 69
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEER
LIABILITY REEE 850,580 943,449
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBERE
Convertible notes IRt 24 70,787 86,210
779,793 857,239
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRK#HE
Share capital [N 25 140,691 140,691
Reserves G 27 639,102 716,548
779,793 857,239

Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai

&

Chairman

TE

TSANG Siu Hung
Bk
Executive Director
HITEE

H=+—H

BB
i I [ TS
Balance Sheet

fj/\

At 31st March, 2009
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2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES Rz
(Loss)/profit before taxation BB AT (E1R), 5 A (161,463) 24,423
Adjustments for: AR
Interest income FEMA (10,202) (22,138)
Finance costs B RSB ZN 3,029 2,049
Dividend income i B Uz A (4,637) (3.230)
Depreciation and amortisation of — ¥1% - BE#ESE & &2
property, plant and equipment T8 K 5K 12,491 10,268
Amortisation of prepaid lease FENEEREZ
payments B 55 520 511
Net gain on disposal of property, HE TEME - A
plant and equipment BN ERMEZF WS (2 (2,616)
Share of results of associates B(hEBE N R 2 ER 92,400 39,607
Deficit/(surplus) on revaluation of  BHREME >
investment properties B4t (ZBER) 1,060 (4,410)
Bad debts written off AR 1,272 907
Impairment loss on loan BERZRE
receivables 518 14,676 29,455
Impairment loss on interests in i A/NCI - Ty
associate WEEE 31,831 —
Net realized loss/(gain) on HEANHERSE
disposal of available-for-sale 2 EEEF
investments BB (as) 4,686 (37.266)
Gain on disposal of an HE—HIEE
investment property Mz Was (417) —
Gain on disposal of an WsE — A E A A
associate pd & = (653)
Operating cash flows before EBEECPHA KLERE
movements in working capital mE (14,756) 36,907
Decrease/(increase) in financial REREREAFEERE
assets af fair value through profit ~ ©@&EEY
and loss WA, (3ghn) 65,377 (5,451)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 1F& 24 (3Em) 19,093 (35,644)
Increase in trade debtors e E 5 BRTE 2 A0 (12,990) (12,355)
Decrease/(increase) in other H A pEUIRIE -
debtors, deposits and Ze RIENFIEZ
prepayments A, () 13,250 (126)
(Decrease)/increase in trade BB SRIE 2
creditors (R, /& (4,706) 3,861
Decrease in other creditors and HiEERIER B A EE 2
accruals Ve (3.057) (18,753)
(Decrease)/increase in derivative  $T4& R T A
financial instruments OB ),/ (3.017) 3.017
Cash generated from/(used in) R EE (BT Z
operations Re 59,194 (28,544)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENBEBFEH (11,305) (18.,387)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded EREBIFEEFFT 5,404 7.777
Income tax in other jurisdiction paid 21 E b FE R 2 Fri5H: (604) (14,706)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED & EMEL (FiA)=
IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES BETRE 52,689 (53,860)




2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Interest received B A E 10,275 30,929
Dividend received EAR E 4,637 3,230
Advances to associates BRTEHE QA (23,798) (13,125)
Addition to investments in b)) —/NC
associates "E — (178,947)
Purchases of property, plant HBEME BEEESE X
and equipment B (31,069) (5.077)
Repayments from associates kNI N 5,303 13,634
Proceeds from disposal HEMZE - BEKESR
of property, plant and Btk 2 FTiS
equipment EX QL] 7 8,477
Proceeds from disposal of an HE—RIEEMHEZ
investment property e 3,697 —
Proceeds from disposal of an HsH — B E R A2
associate FriS 518 — 2,689
Proceeds from disposal of HEAIHERE S
available-for-sale investments KT8 36,370 66,162
Decrease/(increase) in pledged #i#IR & 464
cash balance W35 n) 1,313 (789)
NET CASH GENERATED REXBELE
FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING S (iR 2
ACTIVITIES BeTH 6,735 (72,817)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEEWR
Dividends paid B R (35,173) (38,620)
Interest paid BEARFE (4,770) (152)
Proceeds from issue of BT MRER P15
convertible notes FIH 72,800 85,500
Redemption of convertible fE o] AT 2 %
notes Fig (85,500) —
Repayments of advances from [E& D8RR 2
minority shareholders BR = (9.016)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED RIE%(#%(FiA) EL
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ZEEFEEE (52,643) 37,642
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2009 2008
HKS’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) HeRBEEEH
IN CASH AND CASH #@hn, ()
EQUIVALENTS B 6,781 (89,035)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BRE&RELSZHENEAD
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR o =323 201,404 280,224
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE E X%
RATE CHANGES 2 2,126 10,215
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BR&RRSZH
AT END OF THE YEAR RER 25t 210,311 201,404
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES BHERBEESEH
OF CASH AND CASH o =323
EQUIVALENTS Vil
Time deposits, bank balances TEHFH - RITFERK
and cash S 229,413 221,819
Less: Pledged cash and cash B EEARE R
equivalents ReERHm (19,102) (20,415)
210,311 201,404




GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is considered as the
functional currency of the Group.

The Company acts as an investment holding
company and ifs subsidiaries are engaged in
the business of sourcing, importing, wholesaling,
processing, packaging, marketing and distribution
of rice, securities investment, property investment
and investment holding.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the
first time, the following new standards, amendments
and interpretations (the “new HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), which are either effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April,
2008.

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reclassification of Financial
(Amendments) Assets

HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 Service Concession
Arrangements

HKAS 19 — The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding
Requirements and their
Interaction

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material
effect on how fthe results and financial position
of the Group for the current or prior accounting
periods have been prepared. Accordingly, no prior
period adjustment has been required.

The Group has not early applied the following new
standards, amendments or interpretations that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of
these new standards, amendments or inferpretations
will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINA

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

NCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs'

Improvements to HKFRSs 20097

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements®
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs®

HKAS

27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements*

HKAS 32 and 1 Puttable Financial Instruments
(Amendments) and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation®
HKAS 39 (Amendment)  Eligible Hedged ltems®

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC) — Int 9

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate®

Share-based Payment —Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations®

Business Combinations®

Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments®

Operating Segments®

Embedded Derivatives®

and HKAS 39
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13
HK(IFRIC) — Int 15
HK(IFRIC) — Int 16
HK(IFRIC) — Int 17

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18

Customer Loyalty
Programmes®

Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate®

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation’

Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners*

Transfers of Assets from
Customers®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2009 except for the amendments to HKFRS
5, effective for annual periods beginning on or affter
1st July, 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2009, 1st July, 20092 and 1st January, 2010, as
appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
July, 2009

Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30th
June, 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
July, 2008

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
October, 2008

Effective for fransfer of assefs from customers
received on or after 1st July, 2009
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect
the Group's accounting policy for business
combination for which the acquisition date is on or
after 1st April, 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the
accounting tfreatment for changes in the Group's
ownership inferest in a subsidiary. The directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of the
new standards, amendments and interpretations will
have no material impact on the results and financial
position of the Group.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified for the
revaluation of investment properties, available-for-
sale investments and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, which are measured at fair
values as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the new HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and ifs
subsidiaries made up to 31st March each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as appropriate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All significant infra-group transactions, balances,
income and expenses have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the
Group's equity therein. Minority inferests in the
net assets consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination
and the minority's share of changes in equity
since the date of the combination. Investments in
certain subsidiaries were in the form of equity and
loans from the Group and ofher shareholders in
accordance with respective percentages of equity
shareholding in these subsidiaries. Investments in the
form of loans were comparatively more significant
than those in the form of equity, so that the entire
amounts were treated as quasi-capital. Under
these circumstances, the aggregate of minority
shareholders’ equity and loan investments were
faken info account in sharing the losses incurred by
these subsidiaries.

Business Combinations
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition represents the excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s inferest
in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. Such goodwill is carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business Combinations (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generatfing units, that are expected fo benefit from
the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then fto the other assefs of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in the income statement.
An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent years.

Capitalised goodwill arising on acquisifion of
subsidiary is presented separately in the balance
sheet. Capitalised goodwill arising on acquisition of
associate, which is accounted for using the equity
method, is included in the cost of the investment of
the relevant associate.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an
associate, the atfributable amount of goodwill
previously capitalised is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business Combinations (Continued)

Excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost (previously known as
“negative goodwill”)

A discount on acquisition arising on acquisition
of subsidiary or associate represents the excess
of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assefs, liabilities and
confingent liabilities over the cost of the business
combination. Discount on acquisition is recognised
immediately in the income statement in the year in
which the acquisition takes place.

Revenue recognition

(i)  Sales of goods are recognised as revenue when
goods are delivered and title has passed.

(i) Rental income under operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
relevant lease terms.

(i) Revenue arising on the sale of financial
instfruments is recognised on a frade-date
basis.

(iv) Dividend income from investments is
recognised when the Group’s rights to receive
payment have been established.

(v) Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at
the interest rate applicable.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included in the

Company's balance sheet at cost less any identified
impairment loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the Group's financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity mefthod, investments in associates are
carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group's share of the profit or loss and of changes
in equity of the associate, less any identified
impairment loss. When the Group's share of losses
of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional
share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's interest in the relevant
associate.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly affributable to the
acquisition, consfruction or production of qualifying
assets, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as
expenses in the year in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortisation
and accumulated impairment loss.

The land and building elements of a lease of land
and building are considered separately for the
purpose of lease classification, unless the lease
payment cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case,
the enfire lease is generally freated as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment. To the extent the allocation of the
lease payment can be made reliably, leasehold
interest in land is treated as an operating lease and
accounted for as prepaid lease payment.

Depreciation and amortisation are provided to
write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Over the shorter of the
remaining land lease
term and 4%

Land and buildings

Factory premises in 2% — 5%
elsewhere in the
People's Republic of
China (the “PRC")
Furniture, fixtures and 5% — 20%
equipment
Plant and machinery 5% — 33%
Motor venhicles 12% — 33%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in the income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Prepaid lease payments

The up-front prepayments paid for the leasehold
land are stated at cost and charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease
ferm.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated fo be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another accounting standard, in which case
the impairment loss is freated as a revaluation
decrease under that accounting standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
such that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another accounting
standard, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is freated as a revaluation increase
under that accounting standard.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are completed properties
which are held for their investment potential, any
rental income being negotiated at arm’s length.
On initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured
using the fair value model. Unrealized gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the year in
which they arise.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised on the balance sheet when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

The Group's financial assets are classified as
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”,
“available-for-sale investments” and “loans and
receivables”. Financial assetfs at fair value through
profit or loss includes investments held for trading
purpose and investments designated at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition.
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives
that are either designated as available-for-sale
investments or not classified as any of the other
categories under the financial assets classification.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and available-for-sale investments are carried at
fair value, with changes in fair values recognised
in the income statement and equity respectively.
Loans and receivables are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. Impairment loss is recognised in fthe
income statement. Impairment losses on available-
for-sale equity investments are not reversed
through the income statement in subsequent
years. Impairment losses on available-for-sale
debt investments are subsequently reversed if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can
be objectively related to an event occurring after
the recognition of the impairment loss. Impairment
losses on loans and receivables are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the loans and receivables’
recoverable amount can be related objectively
to an event occurring affer the impairment was
recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the loans and receivables at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed the
amortised cost that would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised or derecognised on a frade
date basis and initially measured at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assefs
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the assets have expired or when the financial
assets have been transferred, and the Group has
fransferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition
of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the aggregate of the
consideration received and gain or loss that had
been recognised directly in equity is recognised in
the income statement for the year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities include frade and other loan
payables and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset/
liability and of allocating interest income/expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts/payments (including all fees on points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transactfion costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset/liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period. Income/expense is recognised on an
effective interest basis for financial asset/liability.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
the date a derivative contract is entered info and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair values at
each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss
is recognised in the income statement immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as
a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of
the recognition in the income statement depends
on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivatives of the Group which do not qualify for
hedge accounting are deemed as financial assets
held for trading or financial liabilities held for
frading. Changes in fair values of such derivatives
are recognised directly in income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Convertible notes

The component of convertible notes that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a
liability in the balance sheet. On issuance of
convertible notfes, the fair value of the liability
component is determined by using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible note; and this
amount is carried as a liability on the amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion or
redemption. The remainder of the proceeds
is allocated fo the conversion option that is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity
heading convertible notes equity reserve. The
carrying amount of the conversion option is not
remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs
are charged to income statement at the date of the
note issued.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired. When an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and

net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost method.

TESHBRBRESA)

JRRRE

AMBERETFBRRAEREZE
DEBEERBRTHEIARAE-
BOTARERERE BRSO Z
RFEEDERAIEANRERES
BIRB ZWSHNEREE - Mit#
BB HERAEEIERAED
R EEMRABAEEHER
Ik FISRIAREE D EEBAR
- ERCRE S AR AR A
AMBERBEEDFERIR - Bk
REEERERFETSEMNA
B XRPRATIRNETHERE
Rrat ARER K e

EHERSMAR

HBEE T 2 &ERRR - BUH
HEH AEEHEERERA
B WRAEEHBERKER—
ERAZAZ—HABREL LT
HRZERBAK - HREEEZ
RRAKFE D BIER] - RIZIARE
HIERIBIFREHERRBERR
LERFAGBRE B ZKE
EEERNWERATER -

FE

FEEERNARTERFEN
# 2 RIEE A - AT R
FLAIY -

+—H LR

THHERE

Notes to the Financial Statements

=H

WE BB

For the year ended 31st March, 2009

s

p={112

063



BT ST

Notes to the Financial Statements

064

+—H LR

=H=

FENF

H_E

For the year ended 31st March, 2009

Annual Report

2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
ofher than the functional currency of that entity
are recorded in its functional currency at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
fransactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the seftflement of
monetary items, and on the franslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Group’s net investment in a foreign operation,
in which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in equity in the consolidated financials
statements. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in equity, in
which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

For the purposes of presenfing the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date,
and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. The
corresponding exchange differences, if any, are
recognised as a separate component of equity.
Such exchange differences are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs when a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of
a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at
its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee
confract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract
at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the
amount inifially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
with HKAS 18 Revenue.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on faxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reporfed in the income statement because
it excludes items of income or expense that are
tfaxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax raftes that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assefs and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
tfemporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
tfaxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
tfemporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
fransaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
femporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates except where the Group
is able to confrol the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will notf reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Confinued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assefs is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
fo the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset fo be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realized. Deferred fax is
charged or credited to the income statement,
except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also dealt with in equity.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined conftribution retirement benefit
plans are charged as expenses as they fall due.

Operating leases

Rental expenses payable under operating leases
are charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the relevant lease terms.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as presented in fhe
balance sheet represent cash on hand, cash
and time deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents which have
short-term maturity of generally within three months
upon acquisition, together with bank overdrafts
and bank loans, if any, which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management, are included as components
of cash and cash equivalents as presented in the
consolidated cash flow statement.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements requires the management to make
significant estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses as well as the related disclosures. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are:

Impairment losses on loans and advances and
receivables

The Group periodically reviews its loans and
advances and receivables fo assess whether
impairment losses exist. In determining whether
impairment losses should be recorded in the
consolidated income statement, the Group has
individually evaluated its loans and advances and
receivables for impairment after taking info account
the value of the underlying collateral of each
borrower, and the latest financial position of those
borrowers in default of settlement fo determine the
net present value of expected future cash inflow. If
the financial conditions of the debtors of the Group
were to deteriorate and result in an impairment of
their abilities to repay, additional impairment losses
may be required.

Estimate of the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. The Group reviews annually the
useful lives of assets and their residual values, if any.
The depreciation charges for future periods will
be adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Fair values of investment properties

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s investment
properties were stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent chartered
surveyors as disclosed in the note on investment
properties. In determining the fair values, the
surveyors have based on method of valuation
which involves certain estimates. In relying on
the valuation, Management has exercised their
judgment and is satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions.

Fair values of financial instruments

Financial instruments, including available-for-sale
investments, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial instruments,
were stated at fair value at the balance sheet date.
Quoted market prices from open active markets
are considered to be the objective evidence for
assessing fthe fair values. Under the circumstances
where quoted market prices are not available for
particular financial instruments, the Group assesses
the fair values of these financial instruments with
reference to the recent fransaction prices or
quoted values provided by counterparty financial
instifutions. The use of methodologies, models and
assumptions in pricing and valuing these financial
assefs and liabilities is subjective and requires
varying degrees of judgment by Management,
which may result in significant deviation in fair
values and resulfs.
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TURNOVER

Turnover represents the net amounts received and
receivable for rice sold to outside customers (less
refurns and allowances) and rental income from
investment properties for the year, and is analysed

E

EXRBEERAFREANHFERK
THEEE 2B WM EWKIA
(RHBFRE RITH) A RIREY)
FZHETWA - oM

as follows:
THE GROUP
REE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET BT
Rice sales ROKHE 756,540 555,741
Rental income from investment &K&W~
properties WA 1,177 1,123
757,717 556,864
BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS ¥R Rz EER

Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently
organised info four operating divisions, namely
rice operation, securities investment, property
investment and corporate and others. These
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its
primary segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

Rice operation — sourcing, importing, wholesaling,
processing, packaging,
marketing and distribution of
rice

Securities investment — investments in equity and debt
securities

— property investment and
development

Corporate and others ~ — corporate income and expenses

Property investment

and other investments
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BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6., XBR#EBzoEERE)
(Continued)
Segment information about these businesses is BERZEEK 2 EER 2%

presented below:

Income statement for the year ended 31st March,

N

BE-ZENF=A=+—HL

2009 FEzZWRZER
Rice Securities Property Corporate
operation investment investment and others  Consolidated
¥R
RREHR EHERE NERE Hith 7% H=EEE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET FAT FET FET
TURNOVER EXE
External sales HIMEE 756,540 — 1,177 - 757,717
RESULT ES |
Segment results PREE 61,445 (73,156) (2,535) (19,957) (34,203)
Finance costs BEAR A (3,029)
Share of results of BEBE N
associates ES (7,248) — 217 (85,371) (92,400)
Impairment loss on NGl 3o
interests in associate REEE (31,831) - — — (31,831)
Loss before taxation BHATSE (161,463)
Taxation HIE (7,500)
Loss for the year AFEBE (168,963)
Atfributable to: EEAFERFS
Shareholders of the AR
Company e (167,632)
Minority interests DYRRER (1,331)
(168,963)
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BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

(Continued)

Balance sheet at 31st March, 2009

ASSETS
Segment assets
Interests in associates

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate
liabilities

Consolidated total
liabilities

Rice
operation
BREH
HK$'000
FET
§E
NREE 211,274
NG 3 6,227
GaREE
=L
PRARE 16,043
ApE %
=4
el
=4

Securities
investment

RERA
HK$'000
FET

93,425

430

Other information for the year ended 31st March,

2009

Additions to property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation and
amortisation of property,
plant
and equipment

Amortisation of prepaid
lease payments

Deficit on revaluation of
investment properties

Net unrealized loss on
financial assefs af fair
value through profit or
loss

Bad debts written off

Rice
operation
RKEH
HKS$'000
FET
RENE  BE
BERRE 2,021
ER T
R
ER
M 9,658
ENHETE
ZEiH 514
BEEREME
P i =
RERFRATE
REZ SR
BEZAER
ERFE -

ZHRM G 1,272

Securities
investment

BERE
HK$'000
&7

61,480

6.

B RuE 2 EERGE)

R-BENE=A=+—HZE

Consolidated
#AKE

HK$'000
TEL

693,699
226,427

920,126

89,961

33,239

123,200

BEZ-EShAE=A=+—HIL

EE8EX

Property Corporate
investment and others
TER
NERE Hin%%
HK$’000 HK$’000
AT AT
117,217 271,783
15,820 204,380
447 73,021

FEZHMER
Property Corporate
investment and others
¥R
MERE Hin¥%
HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET
29,048 -
2,768 85
6 —
1,060 -

Consolidated
SRER

HK$'000
T#E7

31,069

12,491

520

1,060

61,480
1,272




=1 GE)
BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS b, EBR#EHZzEERE) Li& O
(Continued) 11 X:E "6
= +—
S
Income statement for the year ended 31st March, BE-—ZEENE=H=+—H1 B oy —
2008 R KB i .8
134 -
Rice Securities Property  Corporate M O
operation investment investment  and others Consoidated #® LI(=:
rER O
RKER BHEE MERE Hin mekE o c
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 & +
FaT  FET  FET AT TE% s 2
s 3
TURNOVER e “ -+
External scles B5hE 555,741 - 1123 556864 @ %
5
RESULT T &
Segment results NEEE 24,579 51,157 5,163 (15,473) 65,426 g
o
Finance costs B RRAR (2,049) %
Share of results of ) U] £
associates B (2,231) — (827) (36,549) (39,607)
Gain on disposal of s — R
an associate NI € 653
Profit before taxation BR A A& A 24,423
Taxation i1 (15,520)
Profit for the year AEEGEA 8,903
Attributable to: [EIEAEE RN :
Shareholders of the ARHE]
Company R 8,722
Minority interests PYRR R 181
8,903
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6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6.

(Continued)

Balance sheet at 31st March, 2008

Rice Securities
operation investment

RAXE  EHFRA
HK$'000  HK$'000

FETL FET

ASSETS BE
Segment assets NEEE 236,681 218,889
Interests in associates HeNRER 26,547 —
Consolidated total assets  &ABAE
LIABILITIES &f
Segment liabilities NEERE 24,999 3,022
Unallocated corporate RABZ

liabilities ==
Consolidated total RABAR

liabilities

Other information for the year ended 31st March,

2008
Rice Securities
operation investment
BRERH BHEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Additions to property, RENE  BFE
plant and equipment P 5,065 —
Depreciation and ME - WE KR
amortisation of &M
property, plant and 2IE
equipment R 7,668 —
Amortisation of prepaid ~ BRNBEREZ
lease payments B 505 =
Surplus on revaluation of — BffREN%E
investment properties LB — —
Net unrealized loss on REREEATE
financial assets at fair BREZ&R
value through profit BEIRER
or loss BEFE = 28,660
Bad debts written off bl 6 907 —

KB RuE e 2 EERE)

R-EBEEBENF=F=+—HzZE

EREX

Property
investment

nEAE
HK$'000
Fi#7

94,975
21,459

485

Corporate
and others
©rER

Hith %%
HK$'000
FET

267,817
292,487

87,087

Consolidated
LAERE

HK$'000
FET

818,362
340,493

1,158,855

115,593

32,550

148,143

BE-—EEN\F=A=+—HL

FEZHMER
Property  Corporate
investment  and others
TrER
MERE Hin %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
— 12
2,536 64
6 —
4,410 —

Consolidated
HEHRE

HK$'000
FET

5,077

10,268

511

4,410

28,660
907




BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
(Continued)

Geographical segments

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong,
elsewhere in the PRC and other regions.

The following table provides an analysis of the
Group's sales by location of markets, irrespective of
the origin of the goods/services:

B RE D EERE)

o35 25 48
AEERES - PEZHEAMMER
DA R Bt 1 [ 4 2 56 755

u]
SREZRE)E D2 EED
Hraon

Turnover by
geographical markets

BTG E D 2 & X5
2009 2008
HKS’'000 HK$’'000
FET FEITL
Hong Kong BB 636,647 452,214
Elsewhere in the PRC R 2 E A [ 102,243 96,478
Others H iz 18,827 8,172
757,717 556,864

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount
of segment assets and additions to property, plant
and equipment, analysed by the geographical
areas in which the assets are located:

Carrying amount of
segment assets

AT RIZEEMERTISZE D
ZOREERBERREYE
EY SN E S A i

Additions to property,
plant and equipment

NEME - BEHER

REE
2009 2008 2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000 HKS’000 HK$'000
FETT FET FET FET
Hong Kong B 555,099 694,960 30,993 3,093
Elsewhere in the PRC MR B 2 E A [ 273,206 330,764 76 1,984
Others H b [E@ 91,821 133,131 — —
920,126 1,158,855 31,069 5,077

+—H LR

THHERE

Notes to the Financial Statements
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wn i
e
O B 2
GE) $& 41_ NET OTHER (LOSS)/INCOME HihF(F58), A
—
el
N I}ﬁ‘ 1 THE GROUP
— oy & rEE
O " 2009 2008
8 & HKS'000 HK$’000
O M FHET FHT
c B As restated
L K&
)
- ) - . .
ra S Interest income on: FLEMA -
@) = — Bank deposits — RITER 2,402 7,322
': % — Available-for-sale — AHERER
O E investments and financial REZREATE
-'C_) ;"; assets at fair value through Rz
i 9 profit or loss TREE 4,744 10,556
j — Others — Hfty 3,056 4,260
®
8 10,202 22,138
>
2
g Dividend from available-for- o ERE RN BER
s sale investments and financial BATERE
assets at fair value through JEREE
profit or loss: 2R BUWA
— Listed investments — EWKRE 4,637 3,203
— Unlisted investment — FELETIRE = 27
Net realized (loss)/gain on HESRMEE D #RF
disposal of financial assefs: (B18), e
— Available-for-sale — e
investments wE (4,686) 37,266
— Financial assets atf fair value — — REZRER A FE
through profit or loss B eREE (13,420) 36,559
(18,108) 73,825
Net realized and unrealized TEERIAZ
gain/(loss) on derivative BB KRB
financial instruments FE S (ER) 3,380 (3.017)
Gain on disposal of an HE—IHREMSH
investment property 2 Was 417 =
Net gain on disposal of property, HEWE - HE#KE RE
plant and equipment 2 F e 2 2,616
Net foreign exchange (loss)/ fE 5 (E548) ez
gain HER (8,800) 320
076 sundry income FIB UL 1,703 6,926
(6,565) 106,038




wn
2
el O
T E
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION BRELAT (B I8) A J_ £ O
1] =
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after BEA(ER) EAEmng ﬁ %g
charging/(crediting): (5t A) : BoL. —
= it O
THE GROUP b Q
KEE I O
2009 2008 S -
HK$’000 HK$'000 ® [
FET FET )
s £
Auditors’ remuneration 2 ER BN < N o
Current year REEZ 381 311 '(C_) +—
Underprovision in prior years TEEBRETR 43 40 g 8
5 0
424 351 8 v
Depreciation and amortisation — #% - BRE#E %
of property, plant and M@z E 5
equipment e 12,491 10,268 2
Amortisation of prepaid lease FENEE fc_)
payments FRIE 2 5 520 511 5
Operating lease rentals in LEHEME
respect of rented premises HeT 2,588 2,984
Bad debts written off = AR 5 1,272 907
Cost of inventories recognised BERAMAX
as expense ZIFERA 526,231 367,190
Staff costs, including Directors’ BTKA B
emoluments (note 30) and EEME (W7 30) R
retirement benefits schemes RIRE R ET 2
conftributions (note 33) SR (A2 33) 61,348 70,747
Interests on bank loans and AR A FREE
overdrafts wholly repayable BEZBITERK
within five years BEZ2FB 1 81
Interests on other loans Ha B2 HE 236 71
Effective interest on AT AR R IE
convertible notes 2 EBRFE 2,792 1,897
3,029 2,049
Rental income from investment  #&&W3 2 HE WA
properties, net of kA B2 it 8,000
outgoings of HK$8,000 BT (ZTEN\F
(2008: HK$12,000) 12,0007 7T) (1.169) (1.111)
Net gain on disposal of property, H& ‘s - HE
plant and equipment W22 B 2 F e (2) (2,616)
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TAXATION wE
THE GROUP
rEH
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
F#ET FEr
Current tax: =T
Hong Kong B 12,343 11,514
Other regions in the PRC R B Bt 3 [ 72 3,903
12,415 15,417
(Over)/underprovision in TFE(RBRERE)
prior years: BHETRE -
Hong Kong BB (3.397) 2
Other regions in the PRC B H A b= (1,269) 130
(4,666) 132
Deferred tax (note 23): EEFIR (A7 23) -
Current year's credit ANFE RO (96) (29)
Attributable to a change in EERAY S
tax rate BE (153) —
(249) (29)
Taxation attributable to the AT REH B A A
Company and its subsidiaries FE(EFRIE 7,500 15,520

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2008:
17.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the
year. Hong Kong Profits Tax rate decreased from
17.5% to 16.5% with effect from the 2008/2009 year
of assessment. The effect of this decrease has been
reflected in the calculation of current and deferred
fax for the year.

Taxation arising in other regions in the PRC is
calculated in accordance with the relevant laws of
the PRC.

BEAENMNBROIBRBEANFRMG
AR B s A 2 16.5% (=
ZETNF:175%) T &> H
2008/2009 R FREERZE
BHERREER17.5%FHEE
16.5% ° WL AB R FEZFZE
Rt BEAFERE P RRER AT
Bk

P B M R A A 2 BOETOAR
feh B BADIETE -



TAXATION (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled
tfo the (loss)/profit per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

9. BIEE)

REFZHIAS AR

AWK

2 (E18),/aFEERMT -

2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
(Loss)/profit before taxation BB AT (E1R), i A (161,463) 24,423
Tax at the domestic income tax  RAMFTEFH R 16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) —TENF :17.5%)
(Note) StE BB (A EE) (26,641) 4,274
Tax effect of expenses not AT 2
deductible for tax purpose SRR 8,228 8,646
Tax effect of income not BERB 2
taxable for tax purpose WA Z s 2 (2,281) (3.792)
(Over)/underprovision in respect FEE (GREERME), B
of prior years T~E (4,666) 132
Tax effect of tax losses/deferred KRR 2 BiIEEE, RITE
tax assets not recognised RIBEEZ B2 17,736 1,930
Decrease in opening deferred AR RFR
tax liabilities resulting from FiTEE A 2 A )
decrease in applicable tax RERIAEE
rate 2R (153) —
Effect of different tax rates of TEHE M RlERE R A & 2 MY
subsidiaries operating in other BARERA R E
jurisdictions -7 31 1,532
Tax effect of share of results of — #HEL QAR EE
associates WA E 15,246 6,931
Tax effect of utilisation of tax EIB T FERMERZTIE
losses/deferred tax assets not BB EERIEEE L
previously recognised IS & = (4.397)
Effect of tax exemptions REIM B A R TS 2 FTE
granted to PRC subsidiaries Ed -2 — (33)
Others HAth = 299
Taxation for the year REEHE 7,500 15,520

Note:

The domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the
operation of the Group is substantially based is used.

Bt

ANEERF X 2 X 2 Bl AR

2 BB -

+—H LR
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10. DIVIDENDS

(a)

Dividends attributable to the year:

10.

RE

(o) BRAFEZEE

2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Interim dividend paid of BIREFHR S
1 cent per share on SR AR
1,406,906,460 shares 1,406,906, 460%
(2008: 1.25 cents FE(ZEENE
per share on KRR 1.251l - =R
1,406,906,460 shares) 1,406,906,460 fst5) 14,069 17,586
Final dividend proposed R KRR EE
of 1 cent per share on A& 1AL - FRAREK
1,406,906,460 shares 1,406,906,460 ix
(2008: 1.5 cents FE(ZEENF
per share on Fh&1.510 - T;zﬂx%(
1,406,906,460 shares) 1,406,906,460 i 515 14,069 21,104
28,138 38,690

The final dividend of 1 cent per share for
the year ended 31st March, 2009 has been
proposed by the Directors and is subject
to approval by the shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. This final
dividend proposed after the balance sheet
date has not been recognised as a liability at
the balance sheet date.

SRR REEBE_TTAEF
“A=+—RIEFEZRHEBRE
BRI - R 2R R AR JE B
REFRe LHE - HEERR
BIRBE2ARARELARGEHER
wHERRAE -



10. DIVIDENDS (Continued)

10. RE(#)

(b) Dividends approved and paid during the year: (b) RAEAFEH#ERENZEK
=N
2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Final dividend in respect of ~ RAAREEHERE
the previous financial year,  @B% _EB B4
approved and paid during  EZKHKES
the year, of 1.5 cents per R% 1.5l - #ZR% &
share on 1,406,906,460 1,406,906,460 %
shares (2008: 1.5 cents per FE(ZTEENFE
share on 1,406,906,460 FAR1.5100 - HRARE
shares) 1,406,906,460 %51 & 21,104 21,104
Interim dividend in respect  RAAREEIE R
of the current financial BT BN AR E
year, approved and paid FE2HHRE
during the year, of 1 cent FHE AL - RRRER
per share on 1,406,906,460 1,406,906,460 f%
shares (2008: 1.25 cents FE(ZEENE
per share on 1,406,906,460 B 1.2510 « =R
shares) 1,406,906,460 %51 & 14,069 17,586
35,173 38,690

+—H LR
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(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/
earnings per share is based on the following data:

1. B8RUEER) &F

FREAREB(EBER) BFT
B TIEMEE

2009 2008
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss)/earnings for the purposes 5T & &% 7K K #i5%
of both basic and diluted (BR),/&Fz
(loss)/earnings per share (E518), & (167,632) 8,722
2009 2008
Number of shares: RINERE
Weighted average number FTEERER
of shares for the purpose of MEE(EE), &2
both basic and diluted (loss)/ 2 B4R AN
earnings per share 58 1,406,906,460 1,406,906,460

No diluted loss per share has been presented for
the year ended 31st March, 2009 as the convertible
notes outstanding during the year had an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share for the
year.

No diluted earnings per share had been presented
for the year ended 31st March, 2008 as the exercise
price of the Company’'s convertible notes was
higher than the average market price of the
Company’s share for last year.

BE_TTNF=A=+t—HI
FEZERESERYEZT
RAAREFERERITEZ T RBREY
AEEZEREAERBERES

By 48R
42—

BE-TT/\F=A=+-BL
TR SREERTLREF
HARREE (T ERAAR
Bip L E 2 SRS TIHES
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y%  BMEHBELRE

For the year ended 31st March, 2009 BE-—EFEhAhF=HA=+—8Lt ﬁ
FRE B ooy
= A
iy
Factory iy
premises in Furniture, H
Land and elsewhere fixtures and Plant and Motor i
buildings inthe PRC  equipment  machinery vehicles Total
TEEMEE G RE BERE
THREF BENZ E ] E hE #it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FET

THE GROUP 156
COsT B
At 1st April, 2008 RN-2Z/\EMA-H 87,856 14,372 35,295 100,524 9.867 247,914
Additions AE 29,048 - 120 1,901 - 31,069
Disposals/written off e/ - - (474) (162) (78) (14)
Exchange rafe adjustments 5 3% - 310 13 483 65 951
At 31st March, 2009 RZEENE=ZR=T-H 116,904 14,682 35,054 102,726 9,854 279,220
DEPRECIATION, i B

AMORTISATION AND BER

IMPAIRMENT WfE
At 1st April, 2008 RZZZ\ENA-A 38,628 10,664 29,084 89,069 5,055 172,500
Provided for the year TERRE 3,194 178 2,455 4,228 1,838 12,491
Eiminated on HHE /g

disposals/witen off &0 - - (468) (162) (78) (708)
Exchange rate adjustments 5 3% - 21 75 334 48 488
At 31st March, 2009 RZEENEZR=T-H 41,822 11,671 31,146 93,469 6,863 184,971
NET BOOK VALUES BEFE
At 31st March, 2009 RZEENEZR=T-H 75,082 30N 3,908 9,257 2,99 94,249

For the year ended 31st March, 2009
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O B =
GE) $& 41_ 12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 12. Y% BEMERREE)
-3l
+— = For the year ended 31st March, 2008 BE-EEN\E=A=+—HIt
& B
— a & FE
O it =
- 34 Factory
O M premisesin -~ Fumiture,
ng_ i Land and elsewhere fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings inthe PRC  equipment  machinery vehicles Total
2 o PERMME  GRCRE RS
R & HIREF  ERENE R Rk g it
_,9 6 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
v S P47 A7 FAT FAT P47 FAT
L 2
O 2 THE GROUP A58
pa 9 cost FiA
G At 1st April, 2007 RZZT+ENA-A 94,375 13,134 34,696 98,496 8,900 249,601
3 Addifions 5E — - 35 545 4180 5077
; Disposals/written of & /s (6,519) - (208) (371) (3,474) (10,572)
% Exchange rate adjustments B 5% - 1238 455 1,854 21 3,808
£
At 31st March, 2008 RZEFN\E=A=1-A 87,856 14,372 35295 100,524 9,867 247,914
DEPRECIATION, i
AMORTISATION AND BER
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1st April, 2007 RZZZLEMA-A 37,034 9,140 26,729 85,402 5,964 164,269
Provided for the year AEERE 2,962 628 2,246 2,720 1712 10,268
Eiminated on disposals/written FHE /i
off fE (1,368) - (174) (371) (2.798) (471)
Exchange rate adjustments B 5% - 896 283 1318 177 2674
At 31st March, 2008 RZETN\E=A=1-H 38,628 10,664 29,084 89,069 5,055 172,500
NET BOOK VALUES REFE
At 31st March, 2008 RZEFN\E=A=1-H 49,228 3,708 6,211 11,455 4812 75414
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12.

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

12. W% BEMBRKRMEE)

The net book value of properties shown above it ZEEEREATE
comprises:
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Land and buildings situated URBEBZ TR
in Hong Kong: BF
Held under long lease NEHERHEH 47,998 19,840
Held under medium-term VAR BRE 22
lease A 5,492 5,708
Freehold land and building R EBAIMEE 2
situated outside Hong Kong KA ZERE L R EF 3,647 3,733
Building situated in Hong Kong i & Z1E5 14,098 15,923
Building situated outside LA B P AN [
Hong Kong ZIEF 3,847 4,024
Factory premises situated URBANAINZ
outside Hong Kong: R 3
Held under medium-term VAR BB 22
lease /A 3,011 3,708
78,093 52,936
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. REWH
THE GROUP
rEH
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Balance at beginning of REZ
the year R 27,890 23,480
Disposal HE (3,280) —
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation B4z (E4l) 2Bk (1,060) 4,410
Balance at end of the year RER 7 &R 23,550 27,890

+—H LR
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The investment properties were revalued at 31st
March, 2009 on an open market value basis by
Dudley Surveyors Limited, independent Chartered
Surveyors. The revaluation deficit of HK$1,060,000
(2008: surplus of HK$4,410,000) has been recognized
in the consolidated income statement.

Dudley Surveyors Limited is a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation, which conforms to
International Valuation Standards, was arrived at by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties.

All of the Group’s investment properties are held for
renting out under operating leases.

The analysis of the Group's investment properties is
as follows:

13.

REMEHE)

BREMFE 2 HERKEBE LS
RISERFERITRI BN AR A FIR
—ETNF=ZA=+—RHAZ2H
METUAEXFEIL - EED
EPTES 2 E#1,060,00078 7T
(ZZEZT)\F: &%#4,410,000
BT EREGE AR AER

BAITAEEARIBREEA
EfMMEge8s— YRNEML
HMZBEUMEREETEAGAE
ERRBIHMER - ZHEDR
BRERGEEER - 2Z8UDE
XA MBZ TSR IRAETT -

AEERMBRENMEIFHHNAE
ERMES -

AEBZEEMERZANWAT

2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Situated in Hong Kong: R ES
Held under long lease NRAIEZRES 20,120 23,930
Situated outside Hong Kong: MR EBAIMEE
Held under medium-term VAR B 5 22
lease o= 3,430 3,960
23,550 27,890




14.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. HIBATRER
THE COMPANY
KA F]

2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
Unlisted shares, at cost JEEMRGD - LKA E 280,229 280,229
Advances to subsidiaries AR NG E ] 570,218 663,151
850,447 943,380

In the opinion of the Directors, advances to
subsidiaries are not repayable in the coming twelve
months.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts
of advances to subsidiaries approximate their fair
values.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
as at 31st March, 2009 are as follows:

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid up share
Name of subsidiary operation capital
WEARER i g ERTRAZRE
Aland Limited Hong Kong/PRC 2 ordinary shares of
HHERAT &%,/ HE HK$1 each
BREEIETZ
LiER 28K
Beef Bowl Limited Hong Kong 20,000 ordinary
EHEFREEBRAF B shares of HK$10
each
BREG10BTZ
38k 20,000 8%

EERR BREMBARNEAR
ARKRE+_EAEE -

EER A E A RFE 2 B
E{ERE A FERE -

AARR-BENF=A=+—
Az X EWBAFZHEDT :

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital held by

the Group Principal activities
FEEREEET
RAPEfG L= TEEHR
2009 2008
100% 100% Property investment
NERE
100% 100% Investment holding
REEKR

+—H LR
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WELRER

Better Choice Investments
Limited

Better Star Limited

Billion Trade Development
Limited
KERRBRAA

City Court Properties
Limited

Citydragon Resources
Limited
ERERAR

Cost Logistics Limited

Golden Fidelity Holdings
Limited
TFEEERAT

Golden Resources China
(Group) Limited
2 RPE(KBE) BB AT

Place of
incorporation/
operation

VR E 3k

British Virgin Islands
EBRUES

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
KBRTES/ BB

Hong Kong
BB

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
EBRLHE/FE

British Virgin Islands
EBRAES

British Virgin Islands
RBRAES

Hong Kong
&

Samoa
BT

Issued and fully
paid up share
capital

ERTRARRE

1 ordinary share of
Us$1

H{E 1 RTERRI R

1 ordinary share of
US$1

H{E 1 XL ERRI B

1 ordinary share of
HK$1

HEBTZERBRK

21 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

BREEIXTEBR

21k

1 ordinary share of
US$1

HEIRTZEBRIK

1 ordinary share of
Us$1

H{E XL ERRI R

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

SREE BT EER

2R

1 ordinary share of
US$1

HE XL EBRK

14. ELBIEE(E)

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

capital held by

the Group
FRBE AT

R PE{G L2

2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

FERHK

Investment holding
RERR

Property investment

UES T

Investment
RE

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

BAER

Investment holding

BEER

Property holding
RENE

Investment holding
and property
holding

REERREANE



14.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Confinued)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREH

Golden Resources
Development Limited
SEAEBRAA

Golden Resources
Holdings Limited

Golden Resources Rice
Industries Limited

Golden Resources Rice
Trading Limited
SREREBAF

Place of
incorporation/
operation

EIVE Sk

Hong Kong
0

British Virgin Islands
ERRAES

Brifish Virgin Islands
RBRAES

Hong Kong
&8

Issued and fully
paid up share
capital

ERTRARKRE

2,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares*
of HK$1 each and
2 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

BREEIETZ
ERFEEER
13*2,000,000 & &2
BREE1 BT
LER 28k

21,268 ordinary
shares of US$1
each

BREE FT Bk
21,268 %

1,000 ordinary
shares of US$1
each

BhEE =T LBk
1,000/

260,000 ordinary
shares of HK$10
each

BREGE10ETZ
T8k 260,000 %

14. B EIRER(E)

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital held by

the Group
FEEREEET
R AL L =
2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

TEXH

Overseas sourcing,
processing,
packaging,
marketing, sales
and distribution of
rice

MENEE B2
BF - HER
AERK

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

REEK

Importing,
wholesaling and
local purchasing
of rice (Registered
rice stockholder
and wholesaler)

AR #ERERIRE
RR(FLHABRR
KHER)

+—H LR
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Golden Resources

Warehouse Limited
ERAXEREBRAR

Goldsom Development

Limited
EHERARDT

GR Environmental
Development
Company Limited

ERERERBRAR

Guangzhou Golden
Resources Trading

Development Co., Ltd.

BATERAREEER
ARDF

High Super Enterprises
Limited

Lee Loy Company Limited

FRERAF

Master Tone Limited
XEBERAT

Place of
incorporation/
operation

BV E i

Hong Kong

30

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
&

PRC
FE

British Virgin Islands
RERLES

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
BB

Issued and fully
paid up share
capital

BERTRAZRE

1,000 ordinary
shares of HK$10
each

BRAEBI0ETL
L& 1,000 8%

100 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

BREE BT LER
100

3 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

BREEETZEBR
K

*RMB905,389
#905,389 ARE

1 ordinary share of
US$1
HE1XT SRR

160 ordinary shares
of HK$100 each

BREE100ETL
L@k 160/

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

BREE BT ERER
21k

14.

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital held by

the Group
rEEREERT

RA B L=

2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

MEBQAERGE)

Principal activities

TEEH

Warehouse operation
RERE

Investment holding

REEK

Provision of logistics
services

BRARIRT

Marketing, sales and
distribution of rice
R HERDHARK

Investment holding
REZR

Property holding
L EIES

Money lending

fE&



14.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Confinued)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREH

Paklink International
Limited

Reo Developments
Limited®

Rise Jade Assets
Management Limited
AYEAEERERAR

Shantou SEZ Golden
Resources Grain Co.,
Ltd.

WEEERR SRR
BRAR

Shantou SEZ Golden
Resources Rice Co.,
Ltd.**

AR ERRSRAE
BRARM

Sun Kai Yip (Shanghai)
Industrial Investment
Co., Ltd.

AR (DB IXRE
BRAT

Place of
incorporation/
operation

EIVE Sk

Brifish Virgin Islands
RBRAES

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
RBRUEE/ B

Brifish Virgin Islands
RBRAES

PRC
"

PRC
PE

PRC
E

Issued and fully
paid up share
capital

ERTRARKRE

1 ordinary share of
US$1
HE X2 EER K

21,451 ordinary
shares of US$1
each

BhEE =T TRk
21,451 %

1 ordinary share of
US$1
AEZT EER K

"RMB10,300,000
#10,300,000 AR

#US$4,579,314
4,579,314 %71

#1S$10,000,000
#10,000,000% 7T

14. R BIRER(E)

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital held by

the Group
FEEREEET

R AL L =
2009 2008
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% =
100% 100%

65% 65%
100% 100%

Principal activities

TEXH

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

RAEK

Investment holding
REER

Processing,
packaging,
marketing, sales
and distribution of
rice

RIE - BE R HE
RAHERAK

Processing,
packaging,
marketing, sales
and distribution of

RE - BE HH HE
RA#RXK

Investment and
investment holding
RERREEK

+—H LR
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of Issued and fully

incorporation/ paid up share
Name of subsidiary operation capital
WEARERE S ey ERTRAZRE

Tresplain Investments

Limited Hong Kong US$1 each
BiEATIRERRAR RBRUEE/BE GREE T Rk
21k
Yuen Loong & Company  Hong Kong 50,000 non-voting
Limited BB deferred shares*

RETARAR

##

British Virgin Islands/ 2 ordinary shares of

of HK$100 each
and 2 ordinary
shares of HK$100
each

BREE100BTZ
BREEZELR
17 *50,000 % & & i
HE100ET2
LR 2K

Other than Reo Developments Limited which is
directly held by the Company, all other subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company.

The deferred shares, which are not held by the

Group, practically carry no rights to dividends or fo
receive nofice of or to attend or vote at any general
meeting of the subsidiary or to participate in any
distribution on winding-up. The Group has been
granted an optfion by the holders of the deferred
shares to acquire these shares at a nominal amount.

Paid-up registered capital

Shantou SEZ Golden Resources Rice Company

Limited is a Sino-foreign joint venture.

14. ELBIEE(E)

Proportion of nominal

value of issued share

capital held by

the Group Principal activities
FEEBACRT
ARG = TEXRH
2009 2008
100% 100% Trade marks holding
RARR
100% 100% Importing and re-
exporting of rice
(Registered rice
stockholder)
ARREORK
(BR@AE)

##

%k Reo Developments
Limited " ARRIBEZEFE
2N HAHT B AR HAR
AR °

SR FE B £ 3P 3F B AR AR B 4
B ZERD BB LU
IR B~ SR AR B B 1 B AR R
REZBE  RHFEZANE
ERZAE LIRE - SR Z M
BRARABERZ2EEEDN -
AEBEE BRRERD 25
BART —IHHIHE - BRI AR
ZRHAANSBARERE L
AEFER D

EHGEMEAR

IBREFESRAXEARA
AEFIEEREDE -



14.

15.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14. fBAEIEE(E)
The Directors are of the opinion that a complete EEeRANEANEED I B
list of the particulars of all subsidiaries will be of ANalzzEAEEeRR TR
excessive length and therefore the above list only FTUATR B S S AR E [~ 455k
contains the particulars of those subsidiaries which BENBEEEEZEZHEA
principally affect the results or assets and liabilities F5IH
of the Group.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt HENEBATINELEESEAE
securities at the end of the year. BT 2 B
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 15. BENRIER
THE GROUP
AEHE
2009 2008
HKS'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Listed and unlisted investments: EFH&RIELEHHRE :
Share of net assets BHEETE 117,453 200,798
Goodwill on acquisition W P EE A 2 T 2B 22,211 22,211
139,664 223,009
Advances to associates JE U BSS & R B IR 86,763 117,484
226,427 340,493
Share of net assets of an B(h—EREELTZ
associate listed in Hong Kong PN R 2 BE A 51,639 119,345
Market value of shares held in Fi—REREEEmz
an associate listed in LN )
Hong Kong ZTHE 89,760 204,000
Notes: Hiit -

(a) Advances to associates amounted to HK$45,748,000
were fully impaired during the year. The remaining
balances of advances fo associates as at 31st
March, 2009 amounted to HK$86,763,000 and are
unsecured, interest-free and will not be repayable
in the coming twelve months. The Directors consider
that the carrying amounts of advances tfo associatfes

approximate their fair values.

(a)  FEUYKHES & A~ B 5K 45,748,000
/%EE,E/\\$¢J;7£\§5W€§@%§
EERE - R-_ZETZhE=A
=t BHEREZEARRIEZ
£ ¥H86,763,0007% 7T /& & 15
- RRERBARRES @
HREE BEZRRRAHE =
RAIFIAZ FREAEEE R FE
HE -

+—H LR
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Noftes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The balances of advances to associates as at 31st
March, 2008 included an amount of HK$7,06%,000
which had been secured by certain shares of
another associate. The amount was interest-free and
fully impaired during the year.

Investments in certain associates were in the form
of equity and loans from the Group and other
shareholders in accordance with respective
percentages of equity shareholding in these
associates. Investments in the form of loans were
comparatively more significant than those in the
form of equity, so that the entfire amounts were
freated as quasi-capital. Under these circumstances,
losses incurred by these associates were shared
by the Group fo the extent that the losses did not
exceed the aggregatfe of their equity and loan
investments. The relevant amounts of share of
losses of associates included in the advances to
associates are approximately HK$2,229,000 (2008:
HK$5,831,000).

The Directors consider that the recoverable amounts
of interests in associates approximate their carrying
amounts as at 31st March, 2009.

15. Br& QTR E)
Hist : ()

(o) R=ZZEZENF=RAR=+—8 -
FEYHE & R R RIBRIENS —
M & A Al 2 & T IR 4
Z RIAH) 77,069,000 TT °
ZERBREERERAEE
EHHERRMERS -

(c) METHERARZEEDHA
SEREMBRIREEFNZEF
e NER B ZBER DA
BARERZTAMEH - AE
R AL 2 R E S RBIAR
AR ZRERK - Btk
’\ﬁﬁ/f%ﬂ)ﬁﬁ%i’ﬁ%ﬁ FE %
FERAT AEER@AED
Euﬂﬁﬂxﬁ&%m&ﬁﬁ@%ﬁz
EZ%H%%%@TEE‘H% o JIE W Ht &

ARABREERERRE
T,E\Z"ﬁ_ia/ﬁ%ﬁ #4974 2,229,000

BI(ZZTZT/\F : 5,831,000
BIT) e
(d ZEERRR_ZZNEFE=H

=T —HEERAER AT
Ol & FREAHREERS °

The movement in the goodwill of associates during FERNBE DT Z 2 EEY 0
the year is set out below: T
THE GROUP
EEE
2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FrET
Balance at beginning of REGZ
the year LR 22,211 15,886
Additions 0 — 6,325
Balance at end of the year RERZ & 22,211 22,211

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of

goodwill of associates approximate their fair values.

EERABEAT BB REER
HATERE -



15.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at
31st March, 2009 are as follows:

Form of Place of
business incorporation/  Issued and fully
Name of associate structure operation paid up share capital
HENRER BEER o/ eguE BRAREREL
Dragon Forfune Ltd. Incorporated  Brifish Virgin 57,895 ordinary shares
Bai{ava Islands of US$1 each
REAXEE  BREEZT AR
57,895[%
GR Engineering Limited  Incorporated  Brifish Virgin 10,000 ordinary shares
Bl Islands of US$1 each
ABRAES  BREEEZT EAR
10,000
GR Vietnam Holdings Incorporated  Bermuda/ 2,824,643,047 ordinary
Limited Az Hong Kong shares of HK$0.01
e NG BRE/BA each
BRAEBOI BT L
172,824,643,047 i
Siinumma Company Incorporated  Thailand 4,600,000 ordinary
Limited AL RE shares of Baht 10
each
GHRAE10%R% TR
4,600,000 %
Supreme Development  Incorporated  Hong Kong/ 15,001,500 ordinary
Company Limited* & Hong Kong shares of HK$1 each
BAZDHERAR" and the PRC  BREE 1 BTz EBR
B/ EER 15,001,500 %
e
Wellight Development  Incorporated  Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares of
Limited B BE HK$1 each
BRERE BT ERK
1,000 %
* Supreme Development Company Limited has a

wholly-owned subsidiary, Delux Arts Development
Limited, which is incorporated in Hong Kong and
engaged in manufacturing and sale of plastic bags

in Hong Kong and the PRC.

15. B QATERE)
RZBEENF=A=+—H &«
SEZEBHERNTFBOT

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued share
capital held by

the Group Principal activities
ARERHEERT
RAEELE  EEXE
2009 2008
28.00%  28.00% Investment holding
RAZR
40.00%  40.00% Investment holding
REAER
2407%  24.07% Trading and distribution
of electronic
products and other
merchandise and
securities investment
and trading
BERAHETER
ErREREEEH
40.00%  40.00% Sourcing of rice
BRAK
41.16% 41.16% Manufacturing and sale
of plastic bags
EERBEBHE
37.50%  37.50% Investment holding

REER

* BARGmBARXBES —H
2EMBRAREERARA
A ERNEBEMARLLRE
BRABEEEERHESEH

5 o
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete
list of the particulars of all associates would be of
excessive length and therefore the above list only
contains the particulars of those associates which
principally affect the results or assets and liabilities
of the Group.

The summarised financial information in respect of
the Group’s associates as at balance sheet date is
set out below:

15.

B N R ()

EXZeRRNEAREE 2 S
REZ BRI BB EBRITR
PrIASR B R B AR B 2 A K
BEERABREERREZHEZD
A5 e

ARERGEHAZBEARZH
BERBELT -

2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total assets BEE 1,264,177 1,720,769
Total liabilities BE s (787,163) (897,657)
477,014 823,112
Minority interests DERR R (74,074) (89,032)
402,938 734,080
Group's share of net assets of NEE 25
associates B N R EEFE 117,453 200,798
Revenue W 751,039 1,108,473
Loss for the year REEFEBE (341,681) (160,87¢)
Group's share of current year's  ANEE#HER
results of associates as at HEEHE 2B E AT
balance sheet date IARFEEES (84,053) (39,607)




16.

17.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 16. ATHERS
Available-for-sale investments comprise: HERE BT :
THE GROUP
AEE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Equity securities: R 7E %
Listed in Hong Kong N i) 2,719 42,803
Unlisted JELETH 38,620 45,871
41,339 88,674
Market value of listed securities  FmEAmE 2,719 42,803
The fair values of listed equity investments are based R HESE 2 A FEETREN
on quoted market prices. The Group's unlisted HWREBE - SR EFTIELETR
equity securities are stated at cost less accumulated DEHFZEEBAFEMSRZE
impairment losses, if any, as the range of reasonable HAZHEEE EFRAERE
fair value estimates for these unlisted investments is ASEEENAFE  BltAsE
significant and the Directors consider that their fair B2 I EMARGD FH TR AN
values cannot be measured reliably. B+ 3054 H ERRUE R BR 2 5T R
& -
PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. ANHEERE

The Group's prepaid lease payments represent
prepaid operating lease payments in respect of
leasehold land.

AEBEZENEERBERNERZ
RAZLMWZ BN EEHRER
1§ o

+—H LR

Notes to the Financial Statements

=H

WE BB

For the year ended 31st March, 2009

s

p={112

097



BRI

Notes to the Financial Statements

098

+—H LR

=H=

FENF

H_E

For the year ended 31st March, 2009

Annual Report

2009

17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

17. ANEENER

An analysis of the net book values is as follows: FHAEMEEREZEEFES
LB UENE
THE GROUP
KEHE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Leasehold land situated in NREBAEREEZ
Hong Kong: T
Held under medium-term AR BB 22
lease b=y 14,837 15,225
Leasehold land situated outside 7 ZE s LASMI 2 U B 22
Hong Kong: BA 2z
Held under medium-term LA HAE 2
lease a8 4,390 4,421
Held under long lease NREERES 307 312
19,534 19,958
18. INVENTORIES 18. E&
THE GROUP
KEE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
At cost: BAANE -
Raw materials R 61,439 85,011
Finished goods BURK G 16,309 10,201
Consumable stores EE1F B RS 6,314 7,385
84,062 102,597




19.

TRADE DEBTORS

The Group allows an average credit period of 30-60
days to its frade customers. The following is an aging
analysis of trade debtors at the balance sheet date:

19.

PR E 5 &R

AEBEREE S EPREH]TIE30
ERZERHR - LT RERK
BHRBNEE B ZRREDHN

THE GROUP
TEE

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Within 30 days 30HA 38,870 32,465
31-60 days 31HEZE60H 19,920 14,442
61-90 days 61 HE90H 5,933 6,250
Over 90 days HiEm90H 4,302 3,669
69,025 56,826
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of REWE 5 HRIE 2 BREE

frade debtors approximate their fair values.

The Group assesses the credit status and imposes
credit limits for potential new custfomers in
accordance with the Group's credit policy. The
credit limifs are closely monitored and subject to
periodic reviews.

As at 31st March, 2009, trade debtors over 90 days
amounted to HK$4,302,000 (2008: HK$3,669,000)
were past due but not impaired as the balances
were related to debtors with sound repayment
history and no recent history of default.

HENFEMRE -

AEBFAZBEF TP ZEEN
MABRBAREERE 2 EEBEK
REEER -ZEEERDIRE
BEEREHRIELRE -

R-ZZNF=A=1+—H &
WESRETREKEBNTBE
I 4 R 1B ) BR XS 4,302,000 78
T(ZE T )\ £ : 3,669,000/
7T) AZREBRERFER
RO 8% N AT HA I 4 KR SRS R Y
FEUTARIA

+—H LR
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TRADE DEBTORS (Continued) 19. BEREZIREE)

The movements in the provision for impairment of FARARERBEEGEE Y WO

doubftful debfs during the year are sef out below: N
THE GROUP
KEHE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FAETT FAETL
Balance at the beginning of REHZ
the year R 1,225 342
Impairment losses recognised RIEWE KA HERA
on trade receivables REEE 1,272 907
Amount written off as 88 AT AT E A
uncollectible A (260) (24)
Balance at the end of the year RFERZ &t 2,237 1,225
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 20. NMERREAFEEEZSH
OR LOSS BE
THE GROUP
REE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Equity securities: &S :
— Listed in Hong Kong — REBEM 31,261 91,603
— Listed outside Hong Kong — R&EBNIMEE F1 4,085 16,501
35,346 108,104
Unlisted debt securities ELEMERES:
— Outside Hong Kong — REBAIMNEE 55,360 47,809
90,706 155,913
Market value of listed EmES
securities mE 35,346 108,104
Quoted value of unlisted IEETERS
debt securities BHRE 55,360 47,809




20.

21.

22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 20.

OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are
based on quoted market prices and the fair values
of unlisted debt securities are based on recent
fransaction prices or quoted values provided by
counterparty financial institutions.

REZEREAFTEEEZS
BMEEE)

EmkhERZ A FESRED
LHREETE - MIFLTEHES
ZRFEDREHER S Z S
AR E 2 ROKRE L RE

BE -

TRADE CREDITORS 21. ENEZRE
The following is an aging analysis of frade creditors NTEENBESRBEREER 2
at the balance sheet date: BRER AT :
THE GROUP
rEE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within 30 days 30HA 1,798 6,749
31-60 days 31THZE60H 412 36
61-90 days 61HZ90H —_ 85
Over 90 days H@E0H 60 5
2,270 6,875
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of EERBENESERE ZREE
trade creditors approximate their fair values. HENFEES °
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. {TAE€mIE
THE GROUP
AEE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other financial liabilities —  Hft&@aE —
other derivatives (not under Efthf14ETE
hedge accounting) GEBRE W&
Interest rate swap (Note 1) FIRIBHR (H7aE1) = 245
Listed equity and foreign R R
currency forward INERIEH
contracts (Note 2 and 3) (H1zF2X%3) — 2,772

= 3,017

+—H LR

=H=

WE BB

For the year ended 31st March, 2009
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

1o

Interest rate swap

The notional principal amount of outstanding interest
rate swap at 31st March, 2008 was US$5,000,000.
Under the interest rate swap agreement, the Group
received interest accrued daily at a fixed rate of
7.5% per annum provided that on that day the value
of the 30 year US Dollar interest rate swap rate is
greater than or equal to the value of the 10 year US
Dollar interest rate swap rate. The Group received no
inferest if otherwise. The agreement was completed
during the year ended 31st March, 2009.

Listed equity forward contract

The notfional principal amount of outstanding listed
equity forward contract at 31st March, 2008 was
approximately HK$ 35,357,000. Under this forward
contract, the Group bought shares in HSBC Holdings
PLC at a price of HK$124.4945 per share. The contract
was completed during the year ended 31st March,
2009.

Foreign currency forward contract

The notional principal amount of outstanding foreign
currency forward confract at 31st March, 2008 was
US$2,000,000. Under this forward contract, the Group
sold US Dollar and bought Turkish New Lira (“TRY") at
the exchange rate of US$1 to TRY1.2836. The contract
was completed during the year ended 31st March,
2009.

The above derivatives outstanding af last year end
date 31st March, 2008 were measured at fair value

as at balance sheet date. Their fair values were
determined based on the quoted market prices for
equivalent instruments as at 31st March, 2008.
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24.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the

EEHBRE

AT RRARE AR LB ERS
gﬂﬁaﬁﬁ@u«bZIg L%ﬁlﬁgﬁ—i

current and prior reporting periods. HEH) o
THE GROUP
REH
Accelerated
tax depreciation
IEBIERE
HK$'000
FET
At 31st March, 2007 ATEZLF=H=1+—H 2,700
Credit to income for the year STAREE Y S (29)
At 31st March, 2008 R N\F=HA=1+—H 2,671
Credit to income for the year STAREE Y S (26)
Effect of change in tax rate MERFF 2B (153)
At 31st March, 2009 —EENF=A=1+—H 2,422

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$85,140,000 (2008:
HK$12,610,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 30th October, 2007, the Company issued
convertible notes (“the Notes”) amounted fo
HK$85,500,000 with 5 year term at interest rate of 4%
per annum payable semi-annually with conversion
price fixed at HK$0.9 per share. The holders of the
Notes (the “Holders”) were not entitled to vote at
any meetings of the Company. The exercise of the
conversion rights by the Holders was subject to the
consent in writing of the Company.

REEH - AEBERAERER
REFZADAREBEBEOA
85,140,000 8 L(Z T T )\ F :
12,610,000 7T) ° E R BEHEE
E%)Télﬁﬁ%éﬂﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂim%ﬂm
BN MW ERRZEEREA
BEFREEE -
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Subsequent to the issuance of the Notes, the
Company entered into a Supplemental Deed
with the Holders on 12th September, 2008 to vary
and amend certain terms and condifions of the
Notes, principally to allow for early redemption at
the option of the Company at 100% of the face
value together with all interest accrued on the
principal amount of the Notfes thereby redeemed
but unpaid. In December, 2008, the Company early
redeemed part of the Notes with a principal amount
of HK$13,000,000 together with accrued interests.

On 17th February, 2009, the Company entered into
a placing agreement with an independent third
party for the placing of new convertfible notfes in
cash with a principal amount of HK$72,800,000 (“the
New Notes”). Pursuant to the placing agreement,
the New Notfes were placed fo independent third
parties in early March 2009. The New Notes bear
inferest at 2% per annum payable semi-annually
with maturity on 4th March, 2014 (“Maturity Date”).
The initial conversion price is HK$0.26 per share,
subject tfo adjustments and provided that the
conversion price shall nof be less than the par value
of the Company’s share. The New Notes may, at any
fime between the date of issue thereof and the date
which is fourteen (14) days before (but excluding)
the Maturity Date, be redeemed by the Company
at 100% of the face value. The holders of the New
Notes (“the New Notes Holders”) are not entitled to
vote at any meetings of the Company. The exercise
of the conversion rights by the New Notes Holders
shall be subject fo the consent of the Company.

The net proceeds from the placing of the New Notes
were used for early redemption of the outstanding
principal amount of the Notes of HK$72,500,000 in
full in March 2009 tfogether with accrued interesfts.

The convertible notes contain two components,
liability and equity elements. The effective interest
rate of the liability component of the Notes and
the New Notes were 4.5% and 2.64% per annum
respectively.

24.
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25.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Confinued)

The movements in the liability component of the
convertible notes during the year are set out below:

AR RS ()

FRUBRRERZ & &2 &
BT

2009 2008
HKS’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Balance at the beginning REHZ
of the year “EER 86,210 —
Effective interest (Note 8) BERAE (M778) 2,636 —
Interest paid EATF & (4,533) —
Redemption & (84,313) —
Proceeds from issuance BT FE 72,800 85,500
Equity component Tz HP 1D (2,169) (1,187)
Liability component at REBETEEAERN
issuance of the notes aEID 70,631 84,313
Effective interest (Note 8) BERAE (M778) 156 1,897
Balance at the end REFRZ
of the year 4heR 70,787 86,210
SHARE CAPITAL R 7
Number of
shares of
HKS0.10 each
SRME{E0.10/8 T HK$'000
Z BB FEIT
Authorised VA TE IR
At 1st April, 2007 R—ZEZLFHMA—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Increase in authorised BANETE
share capital & 1,000,000,000 100,000
At 31st March, 2008 and R_ZEE)\F=ZA=+—8BK
31st March, 2009 —ETEAF=A=1+—H 3,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid BET R R
At 1st April, 2007, RZZETLFMA—R
31st March, 2008 and —EENF=ZA=1+—8X
31st March, 2009 —ETEAF=A=1+—H 1,406,906,460 140,691

Pursuant to the resolution passed in the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on 29th
August, 2007, the authorised share capital was
increased from HK$200 million to HK$300 million by
the creation of an addifional 1,000,000,000 ordinary

shares of HK$0.1 each.

There was no movement in issued share capital

during both years.

BRERARANR_-_ZFTZTLFNA
“THABRBRTZRRBEFKRE
BB —HRZR S ARAD
i% 38 18 1 1,000,000,000 A% & %
EEC.178 7T 2 B BN EE
fi 75 B 200,000,000 7% 7T 44 i &
300,000,000/8 7T °

SIEEEE P BB T IR
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
fo the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants include the Company’s directors
(including independent non-executive directors),
employees of the Company and/or any of itfs
subsidiaries and other persons who, in the sole
discretion of the board of directors of the Company,
have contributed to the Group. The Scheme
became effective on 26th August, 2008 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and
fo be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent tfo 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme
unless approval for refreshing the 10% limit from the
Company's shareholders has been obtained. The
fotal number of shares of the Company available
for issue under the Scheme is 140,690,646 shares
as at the date of the annual report. The maximum
number of shares issued and fo be issued upon
exercise of the share optfions granted fto each
eligible participant in the Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant
of share opfions in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

26.
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26.

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Under the Scheme, share options granted to a
director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or to any of their associates are
subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors. In addition, any grant
of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, which would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granfed and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’'s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000 is subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share opfions under the
Scheme may be accepted within 21 days from
the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is
determined by the directors, save that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the datfe of
adoption of the Scheme subject to the provisions
for early fermination set out in the Scheme. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors at their sole
discretion, there is no requirement of a minimum
period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised.

The exercise price of share options granted under
the Scheme is determined by the directors, but
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; (ii)
the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company's shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company on
the date of offer.

No opfion was granfed, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled during the year or remained outstanding
as at 31st March, 2009.
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RESERVES
The Group

The amount of the Group’s reserves and the
movement therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 46 to 47 of the financial
statements.

27. #%

AEE

AEBFAREFZHBEREAR
B2FINIEIHRKREE 46

e

T EZRAEREDE -

The Company XA T
Capital ~ Convertible
Share  Contributed  redemption notes equity Dividend Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
Bx  WEREE
RasE EhER RERE BaRf REGHE RERA fag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T 77 T A1 AT FAT
At 31st March, 2007 REE+F=A=1-H 404,740 244,734 315 - 21,104 87,237 758,330
Loss for the year KEEEE - - - - - (4,279) (4,279)
Equity componentof ~ WBREEZ
convertible nofes Eadh - - - 1,187 - = 1,187
Prior year final dividend ~ BREERH
oaid ke — — - - (21,104) - (21,104)
Inferim dividend paid ~ Bff R E - - — - - (17,586) (17,586)
Final dividend proposed ~ EZ-2%/\E
for the year ended ZA=T-ALER
31st March, 2008 LRERHRE - - - — 21,104 (21,104) =
At 31st March, 2008 R-2EN\E=A=1-H 404,740 244,734 315 1187 21,104 44,268 716,548
Loss for the year KEEEE - - - - - (43,255) (43,255)
Redemption of EHERE
convertible notes £E - - - (1,187) - - (1,187)
Equity componentof ~ AlEK2E
convertible notes LERHR - - - 2,169 - - 2169
Prior year final dividend ~ BfEERE
poid ke - - - — iy o
Inferim dividend paid ~~ 2RHE#RE - (14,069) - - - - (14,069)
Final dividend proposed ~ H#Z-EThE
for the year ended ZA=t-BL%E
3lst March, 2009 LRERERS — (14,069) - - 14,069 — —
At 31st March, 2009 R-ESNE=R=1-H 404,740 216,596 315 2,169 14,069 1,013 639,102




27.

RESERVES (Continued)

The Company (Confinued)

Notes:

(i)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended) and Bye-Laws of the Company, the
contributed surplus account of the Company is

available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due;

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and
its issued share capital and share premium

accounts.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’'s

27. f#Ew(E)

ERR (&)

wisz :

(i)

REBRZE- NN -FREDE
(FIEFT ) R AR Rl 2 1A &) 4
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BUW BT 5K T AR

ERBRRTIBERTENER
W & 5 PR AR S SR

i

(a)

(b)

>
i
o
%{
2
EE
=

ARMAETEREER
8 ERTRARB
A B2 BB -

EEZRRARAANIKTHRE

reserves available for distribution to shareholders SEEEMT
were as follows:
2009 2008
HKS'000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Contributed surplus BN A% 216,596 244,734
Dividend reserve B 14,069 21,104
Retained earnings RE &R 1,013 44,268
231,678 310,106

The confributed surplus of the Company
represented the difference between the nominal

value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
for the value of net assefs of the underlying
subsidiaries acquired.

RRF 2 BEWBHFRRBBEUR
REEBERBAR 2 2MEE
FFERBTZ AR B E{EM
ERZER -

+—H LR

=H=

FEIF

_E—

For the year ended 31st March, 2009

S ESRE
| Statements

s

p={112

inancia

Notes to the F

109



BT ST

Notes to the Financial Statements

110

+—H LR

=H=

FENF

H_E

For the year ended 31st March, 2009

28.

29.

Annual Report

2009

MINORITY INTERESTS

Investments in cerftain subsidiaries were in
the form of equity and loans from the Group
and other shareholders in accordance with
respective percentages of equity shareholding
in these subsidiaries. Investments in the form of
loans were comparatively more significant than
those in the form of equity, so that the entire
amounts were treated as quasi-capital. Under
these circumstances, the aggregate of minority
shareholders’ equity and loan investments were
taken into account in sharing the losses incurred
by these subsidiaries. The relevant amounts of
minority shareholders’ shares of losses of subsidiaries
included in the advances from minority shareholders
are approximately HK$841,000 (2008: HK$841,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the balance sheet date, the Group pledged
cash balance of approximately HK$19.1 million
and financial assets of approximately HK$46.6
million to secure general credit facilities granted
tfo a subsidiary (2008: pledged a bank deposit of
approximately HK$20.4 million to secure general
banking facilities granted to an associate).

28.

29.

DEIRRE DS

RETHBRRAZKRETIAAE
B EEMRRIZRERZENE
NEE B ZREB D AR R
ERZHAEH - LWEREAIE
H 2 RE S BBIARKE A
ZERERK  FAt 2B BHSR
RERAR - EZFR/AT » %ZF
b8~ ) 2 IR D BRIk
AREFRELBPIOL - BN
DEBBRRFIARIE D BBREN
ZEMBRRABRZEBLED
/5841,00008 T(Z T T N\ F :
841,000/ 7T) °

BEEEAF

REEB XK BIRH
19,100,000 BTz R & &R KA
46,600,000 BTz & @EEER
RURKEREET HNBL
aAl(ZZ T )\F : %20,400,000
BITZRITHERER TRITAR
BROTZBECEET HBER
Al) e



+—H LR

THHERE

Notes to the Financial Statements

30. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 30. EENEEMS
1
(a) Directors’ emoluments (o) EEM<E ﬁ
# 3
2009 2008 ﬁ A
HK$'000 HK$'000 @
FET FET 1‘ 1
. K
Fees e 240 240 &
Basic salaries, allowances EARE S FHR
and benefits in kind EYEF 8,106 8,680
Retirement benefits scheme  EREFIETHE] )
contributions 1ﬁ7;:k 258 315 S
Bonus paid BEAITEAD 618 9,103 6
6
9,222 18,338 >
™
Fees Other emoluments §
ik Hfpfe 5
Basic =
) . O
salaries,  Refirement o
allowances benefits o
and benefits scheme Bonus 2009 2008 %
Name of director BZ4R inkind  contributions paid Total Total S
Exfd
2ER BACEA
ENER B ERA st 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT A1 AT AT & FEr
Execufive Director HrEs
Mr. David LAM kwing Chan i - k4] 16 - 409 4287
Mr. Avin Leslie LAM Kiwing Woi HREEE - 3,020 51 254 3325 4633
Madam Rosita YUEN LAM Kit Woo  tfZfIt - 1333 55 9 1483 3433
Mr. Laurent LAM Kwing Chee WhsLE - 1771 80 9 1,946 4379
Mr. TSANG Siu Hung LhiEEE — 1,203 44 174 1,421 1,366
Mr. Anthony LAM Sai Ho* HHRAE - 386 12 = 39 =
Independent Non-executive Director BukiifiES
Mr. Leo CHAN Fai Yue REREE 80 - - - 80 80
Mr. John WONG Yik Chung BRAEE 80 - - - 80 80
Mr, Richard LAU Siu Sun %‘JM ok 80 - — — 80 80
2009 Total 240 8,106 258 618 9.222 18,338
2008 Total 240 8,680 315 9103 18,338
@ Deceased on 12th June, 2008 o R-—BENEANT+— '| ] ]
H gt
ok Appointed on 3rd December, 2008 e R-mE &E+=-F=
HEE
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30. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees during the
year included four (2008: four) directors, details
of whose remunerations are set out in note
30(a) above. The remunerations paid to the five

30.

EEREEME(E)
(b) EEME

AERA  AfummHMA
TEEMUER(ZZETN
FOUEE) HHEE
B e #R K EE30(a) « Afiz

highest paid employees are as follows: EEFMALTZMewmT
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FETT FET

Basic salaries, allowances HAFHS EEE R
and benefits in kind BT 9,248 8,718

Retirement benefits scheme  E{REFIETE

contributions = 308 307
Bonus paid BAITEAD 1,181 11,090
10,737 20,115

The emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals were within the following bands:

AT B A £ 2 B 4 R
mF

No. of persons

ATAH

HK$ & 2009 2008
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 2 _
1,600,001 - 2,000,000 1 —
2,500,001 - 3,000,000 1 —
3,000,001 - 3,500,000 1 ?
4,000,001 - 4,500,000 — 2
4,500,001 - 5,000,000 — 1

5 5




31.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into fthe
following transactions with the associates:

ElEayNS!
purchases from and services & MIEH
rendered to associates AR5,z 58

Net amount of trade

BAEALXRS

NEFER - A E R E N A
TZRBWT

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TE7T
340,671 258,118

The frade purchases and services rendered were
carried out in the ordinary course of business and at
prices determined by reference to prevailing market
price.

Remuneration for key management personnel

ZEBENMRBEHE B EEKR
BRNETRERZEIZ2R—E
BT IS ER o

FEEEASNHH

The remuneration of directors and other members EENHMTEESEBEAEREE
of key management personnel during the year is as ANEEFT
follows:
THE GROUP
rEE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short-term employee benefits 52 HiE E1& 7 12,439 23,740
Post-employment employee :EINMES
benefits & 7 368 433
12,807 24,173

The remuneration of directors and key management
personnel is determined or proposed by the
remuneration committee having regard fo the
performance of individuals and market trends.

During the year, the Group rented a property
owned by a landlord in which the Director of the
Company, Mr. Alvin Leslie LAM Kwing Wai, had a
beneficial interest. Total rental expenses incurred
for the year amounted to HK$960,000 (2008:
HK$960,000).

EERFEEEAENT A
MEEE2EFAIATHRE R
MiZB 14 E ki o

RAFEAN - AEBRARRE
?Wﬁfﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁflﬁﬁ%“ﬁ?’

mEmIYE AFE2HEE
B EE B960,000B (=TT
J\EF : 960,000/87T) °
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31. BEALREZ(£E)
Details of balances with associates at the balance NEEE QEENTAE 2 HE
sheet date are set out in note 15. SEISETIAMIEE15 o
In addition to the above, the Group also provided BEAN - ARG B TR H B A Bl WA
guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities PFITNERE MIBHEER 15
granted to associates as set out in note 32(c). FIAKIFE32(c) °
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. RENAREE
At the balance sheet date, the commitments and NeEE R AEEMBHRRED
contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial HEHE 7 ERERSARBEWNT
statements are as follows:
(a) Contracted capital commitments (a) BEEHNZEREEIE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
REE ¥iN/NE]
2009 2008 2009 2008
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Acquisition of fBAYZE -
property, plant R S 23
and equipment B 250 65 — —
Capital contribution A—IBAHERE
for an available- ZEE
for-sale investment & A 20,400 20,400 — —
20,650 20,465 — —

(b)

Operating lease commitments
The Group as lessee

At the balance sheet date, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease

(b) ®EHRAEE
EEEEREBA

REER  AEB 2 A #H
HHE BB T 7 R A

payments under non-cancellable operating UTZ AR ERES S :
leases which fall due as follows:
THE GROUP
AEHE

2009 2008

HKS’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 1,259 1,855
In the second to fifth years F_EERF

inclusive (BREMEBRELEA) = 369

1,259 2,224

Operating lease payments represent rentals
payable by the Group in respect of rented
premises. Leases are negotiated for an average
term of 2 years with fixed rentals.

LEHSAASERERYEZ
ENEE HOLUEERS R
T RHAME 2 FHME]



32. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 32.

(b) Operating lease commitment (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year
was HK$1,177,000 (2008: HK$1,123,000). The
properties rented out have committed tenants
for the next 2 years.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had
contfracted with tenants under the non-
cancellable leases for the following future
minimum lease payments:

AERIAREEE)

(b) EEHENEEE)

EEEESLHBEA

FAZHMERSRAR
1,177,000 ;t(Z T T )\
4 1,123,000 T ) ° %
EHEMEERKMER
HEBPEM -

REER AEBEBEP
RIM 2 NAIBEHBHOR T
SIHRE 2 R AR REREE W
AR -

THE GROUP
HEM

2009 2008

HKS’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within one year —FR 725 1,048
In the second fo fifth years FE_EFRF

inclusive (BEEMFRETEN) 310 590

1,035 1,638

The Company did not have any lease
commitments at the balance sheet date.

REEHR NABLEME
fa] A9 HEHE -
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32. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(c) Contingent liabilities and financial guarantees

issued

THE GROUP

2009
HK$'000
FRET

Guarantees given in A& F3IAT]
respect of banking  EUSRITRLE

facilities made e it

available to: ER:

— subsidiaries — B AF

— associates — B AR 49,525

32. AERIREEE)

(c) FARBBEBREHZMBERF

THE COMPANY
AT
2009 2008
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET TFET

157,253 160,686
49,525 156,550

49,525

206,778 317,236

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s
subsidiaries had not utilised any of the banking
facilities guaranteed by the Company. The
extent of guaranteed banking facilities utilised
by the associates as at 31st March, 2009
amounted to approximately HK$17,877,000
(2008: HK$50,601,000).

At the balance sheet date, the Directors did
not consider it probable that a claim would
be made against the Group under any of the
guarantees granted by the Group.

The Group has not recognised any deferred
income in respect of the financial guarantee
confracts granted as the Directors consider
that the fair values of financial guarantee
contract is not significant. The fair values of
financial guarantee contracts were determined
by BMI Appraisals Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer.

RNEEBR A5 EZ M
RNAIRE B AT
RABFERZBITRE
BE-R_TETNF=A
=t+—HB BERAEED
BZERBITHERELN
£17,877,0008 L (— 2=
J\E : 50,601,000 7T) °

NEER BEESTRA
ERRIEZSFANEEAR
REFEZERMAAEER
{82 AJRE

F-im:mf//

mik

ZNE SLNC RN
REZERZIEMELT
WA REERBHMBE
(AR O AN =R
ZoMBRERZENZA
FERBILAEBREXR
fmERAMARFHEBERA

At -



33.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

33. BIREFEE

THE GROUP
TEE
2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Retirement benefits schemes :R{KEFIEE]
contributions HR 1,943 1,930
Less: Forfeited contributions & - B 82Utk (4) (34)
1,939 1,896

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefits scheme (the "“Defined
Contribution Scheme”) which is registered under the
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the
“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
in December, 2000. The assets of these schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Employees who are members of the ORSO Scheme
prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme
were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas,
all new employees joining the Group on or after
1st December, 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme.

Under the ORSO Scheme, the Group and its
employees participating in the scheme are each
required to make conftributions to the scheme
at rates specified in the rules. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO scheme prior to
vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions
payable by the Group are reduced by the amount
of forfeited conftributions.

AEBFRA —ARBEBERAK
SR (TB SR RET 8GR 1) A
M2 FE R KR M EI([E
Bt ZEE))  ZR_TET
FtZARBRBIEAESTE
fERBIBC IR B R TR 2 AT EI(T 98
BEEtd))  REHIZEED
REELABILEFEALRD &
TEE - NBRESFEAC B
ERINGHEIKN B 2 B B AR (R
BaERFERAFEIRBAINAR
BEFE - AR _TTEF
TZA-HIZEMAREEZ
MEBAZNBREEAE -

REBERARGE  ARE RS
5T 8 2 B B AR Et 8 R5KIE
EZHERERZBFELEK - HE
BRBRESZHMHANRATE LB
FRINEE - AIASERRREN
ZHFH AR S 2 Wz R
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (Continued)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions
fo the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules.
The only obligation of the Group with respect fo the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. Except for voluntary contribution,
no forfeited contribution under this scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in
future years.

The retirement benefits schemes contributions
arising from the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
charged to the income statement represent
contributions payable to the schemes by the Group
at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

At the balance sheet date, there are no significant
forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees
leaving the retirement benefits scheme and which
are available to reduce the conftributions payable
by the Group in future years.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include
available-for-sale investments, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, tfrade and
other receivables and trade and other payables.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigafe these risks are set out below.
The Management manages and moniftors these
exposures closely to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

33.

34.

REREEIE)

RizBEDTE - BERERR
Rat 8RR IEE < R R L8 TR
TR EIZBEHER - AEEH
miESFTEIMAREZE—BE
RBEZEEELARE 2 H
Ko BB REMEERIN  REBAG
gl - BEIEEAD PO M
FRER D AR A AR R EAS 2 3K o

BRRAGEIRBREEEL
ZRIRAE N &I S A s R
APEES S iz i KT Eichralads
B TEIEIZHEK -

REEBR > BAEBROZENRE
AT & 508 W2 18 = HRER D
AT AR ARRAE 2R 4F 5% 2 SRR I
TRE -

CREMEEEREBER

AEEZEESBMTARETY
ERE  NERERATERE
ZoMEE  ERESERRE
i RO A B P R 5 BRI
HfER R RERMIAY
BT R AB M R B - B
ZoRMTAAMZEAR - R
EZEmR 2 RBERA T
EREETHERREEREA
B - AR AL TR B B A bt SRR
% $E -



34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk management

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the reporting date were as
follows:

34.

TREREEEREREKE)

E¥ERER

AEBIINERBUEREER
BERKERRZREAENT :

THE GROUP
AEE

2009 2008

HKS'000 HK$'000

FET FET
Assets BE

Denominated in Renminbi AN RE & BT 117,899 174,527
Liabilities =LE

Denominated in Renminbi LAAREE & B A1 9,556 13,214

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in Renminbi. The following fable lists
out the Group’'s sensitivity fo a 5% increase and
decrease in Renminbi against the Hong Kong
dollar. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporfing
foreign currency risk internally fo key management
personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensifivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. The sensifivity
analysis includes external loans as well as loans
to foreign operations within the Group where the
denomination of the loan is in a currency other than
the currency of the lender or the borrower.

AREZ;

S
i3

Impact of Renminbi

AEETIZEHAREZEER
B TRETAEEHARE
THEREE 5% 2 BRE D T+
BoSARATEERABRE
5 SN R ek P E R 2 SRR B
X WRREBEHEXAgES
BEF NG - BRESTERE
BAEUSNEIENMEEERE
& - W 5% M IMNE Z B A B W
ENFENBRE - GUEEREINE
RYEINRAKEZBINETE
R MERZEELIFRET X
EhzEREE -

Increase/decrease in

equity for the year
FEE#ERZEM RS
2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
5,417 8,066
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital fo ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the opfimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategies
remain unchanged from prior year. The capital
structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company comprising issued
share capital, share premium and reserves.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of debt-
fo-equity ratio. The Group had cash balance of
HK$229,413,000 (2008: HK$221,819,000) and no
outstanding bank loans except for convertible notes
amounted to HK$70,787,000 (2008: HK$86,210,000) at
the balance sheet date. The debt-to-equity ratios,
calculated as total debts divided by shareholders’
equity, as at the balance sheet dates were as
follows:

34. TRIEFREERREREKE)

EXERERE

AEEZERNEREREEBEN
ERYE BRAKEBTEA
Tﬁﬁ FERLEYRTHERESE
c REBEMERRAELFE
{%%T“ AEENEAREE
BARBBREEED 2B ET
A~ BRAR B R B IR

AREERBEL RS R
BR - AEERGEEAFARS
#5848 229,413,000 BTT(ZZEEN
E. 221,819,000/8 7T ) * kR Al
§¥T§70,787,000% T(ZEE
J\EE : 86,210,000 7t ) 4h » I
BARERFTER -REERZ
B R t ROZE KRR
PABCR#EmRETE AT -

2009 2008
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT

Total debts: B ABRE:
Convertible notes A AR R 70,787 86,210
Shareholders’ equity i R 784,612 997,655
Debt-to-equity ratio (ERGEEE s Frn S 9.0% 8.6%




34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk management

The Group’'s credit risk is primarily attributable to
tfrade and other receivables and loan receivables.
The exposure to the credif risk is closely monitored
on an ongoing basis by established credit polices.
There is no significant credit risk within the Group.

To mitigate counterparty risk, the Group enfers
info derivative contracts only with sound financial
institutions with strong investment-grade credit
ratings, limits exposure to each financial institution
and monitors each rating regularly. The Group
places fime deposits and bank balances with
banks of high credit ratings in Hong Kong and sets
exposure limits to each single financial institution.
Other than concentration of credit risk on amount
due from associates, the Group has no other
significant concenfration of credit risk as relevant
exposures are well diversified over a number of
counterparties.

Financial instruments price risk management

The Group’'s financial instruments price risk
is primarily attributable to available-for-sale
investments, financial assefs at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial instruments
which were stated at fair values at the balance
sheet date. The Management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk profiles.

As at 31st March, 2009, carrying values of available-
for-sale investments and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which were stated at fair values
amounted to HK$2,719,000 (2008: HK$42,803,000)
and HK$90,706,000 (2008: HK$155,913,000)
respectively. For sensitivity analysis purpose, a 15%
change (2008: 5% change) in the fair values of
corresponding financial instruments would result in
the movements in investments revaluation reserve
and changes in results for the year of HK$408,000
(2008: HK$2,140,000) and HK$13,606,000 (2008:
HK$7,796,000) respectively.

34.

TREREEEREREKE)

FERRER

AEBZEERRERS RER
B MEMBREALRER - KE
BEETENEEBRRAFELE
wHEERRELEZTMEE -
Bt ZK%II?@%EKZEEH

)
ZoN

BEERZTERZAR - K&
EEgRBEBEERAEARER
BEENRZEBMEBILITE
B YARERSSREET
AR ZEBNETERERSHE
ZEEFR - AEEZFERFK
MIRTTREFDFRREBRZRBIE
BRIFWIRTT  YHEMBHHEE
REAIAZZEARER - BT &

{5 & L B X FE B & X B RIR
Zl 2 $’§Ilﬁiﬁi\ﬁﬂékﬂﬁ¢
MEERR HEMERESZE
# A i%:F P77 °
TRHTAERAREE
rEBzeRIABRAREE

BRI EFEBARFEARZA
HERE  REREEATER
BrzeMEEMTASRITAE -
EIE B AR ST A A ﬁ7J<$E’Hx
BHEA PAZHIA B

R-ZZEFZAF=ZA=+—H &
AFEARZAHERE KR
BHEERATEHEESRHEE
ZHEMAMESEED 552,719,000
TL(=Z Z )\ F : 42,803,000/8
7T ) %.90,706,0005 jt(— T =
J\EE : 155,913,00087T) ° s
RESTTME  HESHIAR
FEZISH(ZEZT)\F : 5%)
HE) BAREAEHHHESX
% 408,000 L(Z T T )\ & :
2,140,000 7T ) 2 B8} AR F
F%F’“Xﬁls 606,000 7T
(ZZZ )\ : 7,796,000/ 7T )
B o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group's operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

As at 31st March, 2009, the Group’'s net current
assets amounted to HK$465,036,000 (2008:
HK$547,164,000) with current ratio, calculated
as current assets divided by current liabilities, at
approximately 10.30 times (2008: 10.23 times).
Together with cash balance of HK$229,413,000 (2008:
HK$221,819,000), the Group is in sound financial
position to meet the capital requirements of the
Group's operations and development in the near
future.

As at 31st March, 2009, the Group's contractual
financial liabilities included total current liabilities of
HK$49,991,000 (2008: HK$59,262,000) to be due within
one year and convertible notes of HK$70,787,000
(2008: HK$86,210,000) to be due in the second to
fifth year inclusive. Total current liabilities to be
due within one year included trade creditors of
$2,270,000 (2008: HK$6,875,000), other creditors and
accruals of HK$16,904,000 (2008: HK$19,491,000) and
tax liabilities of HK$30,817,000 (2008: HK$29,879,000).
Derivative financial instruments of HK$3,017,000 as at
last year end date 31st March, 2008 was fully settled
during the year.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
Details of the post balance sheet event of the
Group are set out in the Report of the Directors
section of the annual report.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
tfo conform with current year's presentation.

34.

35.

36.

THEREERRERERE)

RBESREBER

REERDETAR  AEEY
RehERAAETESR X
S H AR B IR AR ME B S 2 7K
o URAREEEEBHIRMEE
SRBBRREREND 2 TE -
EREERRTEEZDHAE
N BRTEERIZL -

RZEEAF=A=+—8"
AEBZRBHEEFESR
465,036,000 T(=— T T N\
£ 1 547,164,00078 7T D

)
EER(ERDEER RS A
HE)NBI1030B(ZTET)N\F :
10.231%) - ERBSHEHROE
229,413,000 BT(Z T NEF :
221,819,000/ 7T) » AREE# LA
B 2 B B 55 AR 00 B AN R R 5E K
BRZETFR -

RZZEZEAF=A=+—8"
AEFEZAENPzEeRmEER
EER—FRNEBzERsE
B 549,991,000/ T(ZEE )\
£ 1 59,262,000 ) MR E =
E2FERF(EEMEREEAN)E
Hy 2 Al R Z 3% A& 70,787,000
BIT(ZZTZ )\ 4F : 86,210,000
BL) e R —FREHz 8
RBEAEREENESRES
2,270,000 T(Z T T )\ & :
6,875,000 Jr ) + H b fE {F BR
H KRB B ERE E16,904,0008
T(ZZZ N\ 4 : 19,491,000
JT) M FiIE A & A 30,817,000 %8
(= ZZ )\ 4F : 29,879,000
L) REFEFEHEB T /)\F
=A=+—8B {1£¢mITAEAE
3,017,000 ERAFEZ
HIEE -
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Particulars of investment properties are as follows:

Location
i 31k

Room 1432, 1822, 1823, 1922 and Store
Room No. 1 on 18/F Star House, No. 3
Salisbury Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

BEBNERDBERLEN B3R
E171432-1822-1823+
19222 R8BI YE

Unit B, 9/F Gitic Plaza Office Tower A, No.

339 Huanshi Road East, Guangzhou,

Guangdong Province, PRC
FHEIERE B MM IR T R B 3395

BEREIR A EAREIEBRE

Term

14

Long lease
RHEH

Medium-term lease
REE

BREMEERDOT :

Usage

Rz

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Percentage held
by the Group
rEBEREZESL

100%

100%

H=+—H

FENFE=

R NS

-

At 31st March, 2009

=

I
Schedule of Investment Properties

\
/
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Year ended 31st March,
BZE=A=1t—HLEFE

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
RESULTS E3 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Turnover e 685,555 591,990 529,542 556,864 757,717
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREATHEH, (E5iE) 15,623 112,367 104,894 24,423  (161,463)
Taxation A (19,155) (21,376) (15,980) (15,520) (7,500)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEEHEFM,/ (F8) (3,532) 90,991 88,914 8,903  (168,963)
Attributable [EEAFERH,/
to: (&518)
Shareholders of the VAN
Company e (6,280) 88,998 77,078 8,722  (167,632)
Minority interests DERIR R = 2,748 1,993 11,836 181 (1,331)
(3,532) 90,991 88,914 8,903  (168,963)
Dividends P& & 32,666 32,672 38,690 38,690 28,138
As at 31st March,
R=BA=+-H
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FAET
Total assets BERE 969,571 1,031,271 1,108,671 1,158,855 920,126
Total liabilities BERS (122,389)  (101,177) (89,362)  (148,143)  (123,200)
Minority interests DR R (9,402) (12,268) (12,685) (13,057) (12,314)
Shareholders' equity I R 837,780 917,826 1,006,624 997,655 784,612
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